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Preface 
 
The Standing Committee on Public Accounts 
The basic purpose of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts is to ensure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in public spending. The committee’s authority is 
derived from Standing Order 45(3) of the Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly, which says 

At the commencement of the first Session of each Legislature a Standing 
Committee on Public Accounts shall be appointed and the Public Accounts and 
all Reports of the Auditor General shall stand referred automatically and 
permanently to the said Committee as they become available. 

On January 12, 2017, the Yukon Legislative Assembly adopted the following motion: 
THAT Stacey Hassard, Paolo Gallina, Ted Adel, Don Hutton, Wade Istchenko 
and Liz Hanson be appointed to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts 
established pursuant to Standing Order 45(3), 
THAT the Committee have the power to call for persons, papers and records and 
to sit during intersessional periods; and 
THAT the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly be responsible for providing the 
necessary support services to the Committee. (Motion No. 6) 

The committee first met on March 1, 2017. At that meeting, the committee elected 
Stacey Hassard as Chair and Paolo Gallina as Vice-Chair. 
 
This report 
On March 6, 2017, Michael Ferguson, CPA, CA, FCA, Auditor General of Canada, 
released Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly - 
2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon. The report was presented to the Hon. Nils 
Clarke, the Speaker of the Yukon Legislative Assembly, that morning. The Speaker then 
authorized its distribution to Members of the Legislative Assembly. Once members had 
received their copies the report was posted to the website of the Auditor General of 
Canada. At that point the report became a public document. 
 
On the same day Members of the Yukon Legislative Assembly had the opportunity to 
ask questions of the Auditor General at an in-camera briefing in the Legislative 
Assembly chamber. 
 
The Public Accounts committee of the 34th Legislative Assembly first discussed the 
Auditor General’s report at a meeting held on March 6, 2017. At this meeting the 
committee adopted the following motion: 

AGREED, on motion of Mr. Adel, seconded by Ms. Hanson,  
“THAT the Standing Committee on Public Accounts hold public hearings on the 
performance audit reports presented (Report of the Auditor General of Canada to 
the Yukon Legislative Assembly - 2017: Government Transfers to Societies – Yukon, 
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and Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly - 
2017: Capital Asset Management – Yukon), on dates to be determined by the 
committee in consultation with the Office of the Auditor General.” 

At its meeting on April 3, 2017, the committee adopted the following motion: 
AGREED, on motion of Mr. Adel, seconded by Mr. Hutton,  
“THAT the Standing Committee on Public Accounts hold public hearings on 
Wednesday, June 28, 2017 (on the report on government transfers to societies) and 
Thursday, June 29, 2017 (on the report on capital asset management)”. 

 
In preparation for the public hearing the committee also held meetings on June 2, 14 
and 29, 2017. At these meetings members discussed the Auditor General’s report, and 
drafted questions which were distributed amongst the committee members.  
 
Prior to the public hearing, the Department of Highways and Public Works, the 
Department of Health and Social Services and the Department of Education provided 
the committee with an action plan to update the committee on progress made since the 
release of the Auditor General’s report. 
 
The public hearing took place on Thursday, June 29, 2017. Witnesses from the 
Department of Highways and Public Works, the Department of Health and Social 
Services and the Department of Education appeared. The transcripts of the hearing are 
appended to this report.  
 
Committee member Wade Istchenko was not available to participate in the public 
hearing. Brad Cathers served as his substitute for the hearing and related meetings. 
 
Following the public hearing, the committee held meetings June 29, July 11, August 2, 
and September 6, 2017 to prepare its report. The committee received additional written 
information from the Department of Education on June 29, 2017 and further information 
from the Department of Highways and Public Works on July 11, 2017. 
 
The Auditor General’s report, transcripts of the public hearing and this report may be 
found on the committee’s web page at: 
 http://www.legassembly.gov.yk.ca/committees/pac.html   
 
The committee would like to thank officials from the Office of the Auditor General of 
Canada for their assistance in preparing the committee for the hearings and in assisting 
in the preparation of this report. 
 
The committee would also like to thank the officials from the Department of Highways 
and Public Works, the Department of Health and Social Services and the Department of 
Education, who appeared as witnesses at the public hearing and provided additional 
information after the public hearing. 

http://www.legassembly.gov.yk.ca/committees/pac.html
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Standing Committee on Public Accounts  

34th Yukon Legislative Assembly 
 

Second Report 
September 2017 

Introduction 
1. On March 6, 2017 Michael Ferguson, CPA, CA, FCA, the Auditor General of 
Canada (the Auditor General), issued an audit report entitled, Report of the Auditor 
General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly - 2017: Capital Asset 
Management - Yukon. In conducting the audit, the Auditor General 

… focused on whether the Government of Yukon’s Department of Highways and 
Public Works, Department of Education, and Department of Health and Social 
Services met their key responsibilities for capital asset management, which 
include the assessment, maintenance, repair, and replacement of buildings and 
transportation infrastructure.1 

2. The Auditor General summarized his conclusions as follows: 
• Overall, [the Office of the Auditor General] found that the Department of 

Highways and Public Works had systems and practices in place for managing 
the maintenance and repair of government-owned buildings. However, it did not 
use the information it gathered from these systems and did not follow its 
practices… It also did not follow its process to prioritize building maintenance 
projects against criteria such as health, safety, and costs. 

• In addition, [the Office of the Auditor General] found that the Department of 
Highways and Public Works considered building users’ health and safety as well 
as costs in capital development planning. 

• [The Office of the Auditor General] also found that, overall, the Department of 
Education and the Department of Health and Social Services considered costs 
and the health and safety of building users in making decisions about their 
buildings. 2 

• Overall, [the Office of the Auditor General] found that the Department of 
Highways and Public Works had systems and practices in place to inventory and 
assess the condition of most of its transportation infrastructure. It identified and 

                                                 
1 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly 
- 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 8. 
2 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly 
- 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraphs 12-14. 
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prioritized risks for its paved and chip seal roads, highways, and bridges, and 
addressed them through regular maintenance, repair, and replacement. 
However, [the Office of the Auditor General] found that the Department did not 
have formal systems and practices in place to prioritize or determine the cost of 
the maintenance, repair, and replacement of its gravel roads.3 

3. The Auditor General’s report made six recommendations. The departments 
agreed with all the recommendations. 

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts 
4. The Standing Committee on Public Accounts of the Yukon Legislative Assembly 
is established by Standing Order 45(3) of the Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly. This Standing Order says that: “At the commencement of the first Session of 
each Legislature a Standing Committee on Public Accounts shall be appointed and the 
Public Accounts and all Reports of the Auditor General shall stand referred 
automatically and permanently to the said committee as they become available.”4 
5. On January 12, 2017, the Yukon Legislative Assembly adopted Motion No. 6, 
which established the current Public Accounts Committee. In addition to appointing 
members to the committee, the motion stipulated that the committee shall “have the 
power to call for persons, papers and records and to sit during intersessional periods.” 
6. In his opening remarks at the public hearing, the Chair described the committee’s 
role in the audit process:  

The Public Accounts Committee is an all-party committee with a mandate to 
ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in public spending — in other 
words, accountability for the use of public funds. The purpose of this public 
hearing is to address issues of the implementation of policies — whether 
programs are being effectively and efficiently delivered — and not to question the 
policies of the Government of Yukon. In other words, our task is not to challenge 
government policy but to examine its implementation.5 

7. The committee accepts and endorses the recommendations made by the Auditor 
General. The committee’s report will not repeat in detail information contained in the 
Auditor General’s report. Neither will this report attempt to summarize all the evidence 
given before the committee at its public hearing, held June 29, 2017. The transcript of 
the public hearing is appended to this report. Instead, this report will focus on those 
issues that – in the opinion of the committee – merit further comment. 
8. The committee is encouraged by the departments’ acceptance of the Auditor 
General’s recommendations. The committee is concerned, however, by the lack of 
action to deal with the problems identified in the report and previous audits. Based on 
the evidence provided by witnesses during the public hearings, the committee believes 
                                                 
3 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly 
- 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 87. 
4 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Orders of the Yukon Legislative Assembly (October 30, 2012), 
page 24. 
5 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-1. 
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that the departments have not taken sufficient action to address the Auditor General’s 
recommendations. 

Previous recommendations not implemented, policies not finalized 
9. The committee observed that many issues identified in previous audit reports had 
not been resolved. The Auditor General noted during the public hearing: 

Departments need to know the condition of buildings before they decide what 
needs to be done with them. It has been almost 10 years since we first 
recommended that the Department of Highways and Public Works assess the 
government’s buildings to gather this type of information. We found that the 
department had assessed many of the government’s buildings. These 
assessments identified serious deficiencies, such as major structural problems. 
However, we were concerned that departments didn’t use the assessments 
because the Department of Highways and Public Works had not verified their 
accuracy.6 

10. Mr. McConnell, Acting Deputy Minister of the Department of Highways and Public 
Works, stated at the hearing: 

I acknowledge that some recommendations made 10 years ago have not yet 
been fully implemented. We are working hard to fix that.7 

11. While the departments indicated that they are making progress on the 
recommendations, at the time of the hearing, key policies were not yet finalized or 
approved. 
12. In responding to a question on how policies were not yet in place after 10 years, 
Mr. McConnell noted: 

The General Administration Manual, 2.8, has not been formally approved. That 
said, we have been working closely with client departments to have a better 
understanding with them in terms of roles and responsibilities and definitions 
around what is building maintenance versus a program cost. I believe that great 
progress has been made on that. We still need to have that policy advanced and 
formally approved.  
….What I can say is — in the final approval phase within the Department of 
Highways and Public Works, at which time it will be advanced outside of the 
department for formal government approval. As discussed earlier, that would 
require both Management Board and Cabinet approvals.8 

13. Recommendation No. 1: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works 
prioritize finalizing policies to respond to audit recommendations; and THAT the 

                                                 
6 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-1. 
7 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-2. 
8 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-13. 
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department report to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts what steps have been 
taken by April 1, 2018. 

Silo mentality 
14. Both the Auditor General’s report and the public hearing highlighted the need for 
more cooperation between the departments. Brenda-Lee Doyle, Assistant Deputy 
Minister with the Department of Health and Social Services, stated during the hearing:  

[The Auditor General’s report] has also reinforced the importance of working 
more closely with our government colleagues in other departments.9 

15. Mr. McConnell informed the committee that the Department of Highways and 
Public Works has to date “shared very few building condition assessments with client 
departments” but is currently “working to develop tools to share the data with [their] 
client groups, including developing building scorecards that outline current conditions 
and future requirements for maintenance.”10 
16. While the committee is encouraged by what Mr. McConnell described as “a lot of 
exchange of information on an ongoing basis from departments and the staff within 
Property Management division”11, there is room for improvement as the Department of 
Highways and Public Works moves forward with implementing better facilities 
management systems. 
17. Recommendation No. 2: THAT the departments collaborate in order to share 
information across the public service; and THAT the departments report to the Standing 
Committee on Public Accounts what steps have been taken by April 1, 2018. 

Radon testing for childcare centre licensing 
18. The Auditor General’s report notes that “radon is the second leading cause of 
lung cancer, after smoking.”12 The committee heard that currently the Department of 
Health and Social Services does not ensure that childcare centres and family day 
homes are tested for acceptable levels of radon. 

Licensed child care centres and family day homes in Yukon are not government-
owned assets. However, the Department of Health and Social Services is 
responsible under the Child Care Act for licensing these facilities.13 

19. When asked at the public hearing whether radon testing is a requirement for 
licensed facilities, Ms. Doyle responded:  

                                                 
9 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-4. 
10 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-7. 
11 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-9. 
12 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly - 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 39. 
13 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly - 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 52. 
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It is not a requirement at this stage. They have to follow the law. They have to 
follow the occupational health and safety code, but at this point it is not a 
requirement as per licensing. We are exploring that at this point.14 

20. Ms. Doyle also stated: 
As part of our research to look at all the jurisdictions across Canada and how 
they are using their licencing, we have found that none of them have required 
radon testing. For Yukon to go forward, we would be the first and we would want 
to work very cooperatively with childcare centres around the testing as well as 
around potential remediation, because we know there are costs involved as well. 
… 
We understand that health and safety is of primary importance and we will want 
to very much make sure that what we can do is within the system of appropriate. 
We have been doing some research, and our next step is around kind of the 
impact of going forward in terms of consultation and eventually in terms of 
implementation. The decision has not been made yet.15 

21. Recommendation No. 3: THAT the Department of Health and Social Services 
include radon testing in the list of requirements for licensing childcare centres and day 
homes. 

Verification Process 
22. The committee is concerned that the Department of Highways and Public Works 
has collected information on building conditions but is unable to utilize this data as the 
information from assessments has not been verified. 
23. In its post-hearing response to the committee’s questions, the department noted: 

The assessment process consisted of a physical, on-site inventory and 
inspection of all 295 buildings that meet our criteria for assessment. All of this 
information has been entered into our VFAfacility software database. 
We are currently working through a series of steps to verify this data before we 
can start using it.16 

24. As noted in the Auditor General’s report, “good capital asset management 
requires that an organization know the condition of its assets.”17 Given the lengthy time 
period that has elapsed since the Auditor General first identified the need for building 
condition information to guide the department’s decisions on capital asset management, 
the committee was disappointed to learn that the building assessments are not currently 
being used. 
                                                 
14 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-12. 
15 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-12. 
16 Response to request for follow up information (July 11, 2017) from the Department of Highways and 
Public Works. 
17 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly - 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 19. 
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25. The committee is encouraged, however, by Mr. McConnell’s statement that “the 
process for verification of the data is now ongoing…. and we hope to have it completed 
by later this fall so that we can utilize it in capital maintenance planning for next fiscal 
year.”18 
26. Recommendation No. 4: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works 
complete the verification of building assessment information and utilize this information 
to develop a long-term building maintenance plan; and THAT the department report its 
progress to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts by April 1, 2018. 

Unbalanced building portfolio 
27. The committee observed that the buildings under the management of the 
Department of Highways and Public Works are aging and may exceed the department’s 
maintenance capabilities. The Auditor General’s report noted: 

According to departmental documentation, the portfolio of the Department of 
Highways and Public Works has developed at a greater pace than has the 
Department’s ability to maintain it, and this situation presents an ongoing 
challenge.19 

28. During the public hearing, Mr. McConnell stated:  
The Government of Yukon’s capital assets include more than 500 owned 
buildings worth an estimated $1.6 billion for replacement value. These include 
schools, health centres, courts, libraries and other facilities that deliver essential 
public services and programs. On the transportation side, the government’s 
assets include a network comprised of 133 bridges and approximately 4,800 
kilometres of roads and highways. The net value of these assets is estimated at 
around $630 million.20 
… 
In relation to the age of the buildings, the average age of the buildings is 36 — 
almost 37 years on average — but that includes a number of historical buildings, 
some of which are over 100 years old. If we pulled those out, the average age 
would be around 34 years.21 

29. The committee is concerned that a large portion of the government’s capital 
assets are nearing the end of their lifespan and the portfolio of buildings may become 
unmanageable. 
30. Recommendation No. 5: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works 
present a plan to maintain or replace the aging assets within the department’s portfolio; 

                                                 
18 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-5. 
19 Auditor General of Canada, Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon Legislative 
Assembly - 2017: Capital Asset Management - Yukon, March 2017, paragraph 83. 
20 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-2. 
21 Yukon Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Public Proceedings: Evidence, 
June 29, 2017, page 2-6. 
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and THAT the department report to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts what 
steps have been taken by April 1, 2018. 

Conclusion 
31. The committee would like to thank officials from the Office of the Auditor General 
of Canada for their work in compiling the report and for the assistance offered to the 
committee in preparation for the public hearing. 
32. The committee would also like to thank the departments for agreeing with, and 
committing to implement the recommendations in the Auditor General’s report. 
33. Further, the committee would like to thank the witnesses from the Department of 
Highways and Public Works, the Department of Health and Social Services and the 
Department of Education who appeared before the committee at the public hearing held 
on June 29, 2017 and the officials who prepared the written responses submitted to the 
committee. 
34. Finally, the Public Accounts Committee wishes to note that the committee will 
follow up on the implementation of the recommendations contained in this report and in 
the Auditor General’s report. This follow-up will include a review by the committee in 
April of 2018 and may also include holding further public hearings. 
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Summary of Public Accounts Committee Recommendations 
 
Recommendation No. 1: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works 
prioritize finalizing policies to respond to audit recommendations; and THAT the 
department report to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts what steps have been 
taken by April 1, 2018. 
Recommendation No. 2: THAT the departments collaborate in order to share 
information across the public service; and THAT the departments report to the Standing 
Committee on Public Accounts what steps have been taken by April 1, 2018 
Recommendation No. 3: THAT the Department of Health and Social Services include 
radon testing in the list of requirements for licensing childcare centres and day homes. 
Recommendation No. 4: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works 
complete the verification of building assessment information and utilize this information 
to develop a long-term building maintenance plan; and THAT the department report its 
progress to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts by April 1, 2018. 
Recommendation No. 5: THAT the Department of Highways and Public Works present 
a plan to maintain or replace the aging assets within the department’s portfolio; and 
THAT the department report to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts what steps 
have been taken by April 1, 2018. 
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 EVIDENCE 

Whitehorse, Yukon  

Thursday, June 29, 2017 — 10:00 a.m.  

 

Chair (Mr. Hassard): I will now call to order this 

hearing of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts of the 

Yukon Legislative Assembly.  

The Public Accounts Committee is established by 

Standing Order 45(3) of the Standing Orders of the Yukon 

Legislative Assembly. This Standing Order says: “At the 

commencement of the first Session of each Legislature a 

Standing Committee on Public Accounts shall be appointed 

and the Public Accounts and all Reports of the Auditor 

General shall stand referred automatically and permanently to 

the said Committee as they become available.” 

On January 12, 2017, the Yukon Legislative Assembly 

adopted Motion No. 6, which established the current Public 

Accounts Committee. In addition to appointing members to 

the Committee, the motion stipulated that the Committee shall 

“have the power to call for persons, papers and records and to 

sit during intersessional periods.”  

Today, pursuant to Standing Order 45(3) and Motion No. 

6, the Committee will investigate the Auditor General of 

Canada’s report, entitled Report of the Auditor General of 

Canada to the Yukon Legislative Assembly — 2017: Capital 

Asset Management — Yukon.  

I would like to begin by thanking the witnesses from the 

departments of Highways and Public Works, Health and 

Social Services, as well as Education for appearing. I believe 

that the deputy ministers will introduce the witnesses during 

their opening remarks.  

Also present with us today are officials from the Office of 

the Auditor General of Canada. They are: Michael Ferguson, 

Auditor General of Canada; as well as Casey Thomas, 

Principal.  

I will introduce the members of the Public Accounts 

Committee: I am Stacey Hassard, the Chair of this Committee 

and MLA for Pelly-Nisutlin. To my left is Paolo Gallina, the 

Committee’s Vice-Chair and MLA for Porter Creek Centre; to 

Paolo’s left is Ms. Liz Hanson, MLA for Whitehorse Centre. 

To her left is Ted Adel, MLA for Copperbelt North; and to his 

left is Brad Cathers, MLA for Lake Laberge. He actually is 

substituting on this Committee for Wade Istchenko. Finally, 

behind me is Don Hutton, the MLA for Mayo-Tatchun.  

The Public Accounts Committee is an all-party committee 

with a mandate to ensure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in public spending — in other words, 

accountability for the use of public funds. The purpose of this 

public hearing is to address issues of the implementation of 

policies — whether programs are being effectively and 

efficiently delivered — and not to question the policies of the 

Government of Yukon. In other words, our task is not to 

challenge government policy but to examine its 

implementation. The results of our deliberations will be 

reported back to the Legislative Assembly.  

To begin proceedings, Mr. Ferguson will give an opening 

statement summarizing the findings in the Auditor General’s 

report. The deputy ministers will then be invited to make 

opening statements on behalf of the departments. The 

Committee members will then ask questions. As is the 

Committee’s practice, the members devise and compile the 

questions collectively. We then divide them up among the 

members and the questions each member will ask are not just 

their personal questions on a particular subject, but those of 

the entire committee. 

After the hearing, the Committee will prepare a report of 

its proceedings, including any recommendations that the 

Committee wishes to make. This report will then be tabled in 

the Legislative Assembly. 

Before we start the hearing, I would ask that questions 

and answers be kept brief and to the point, so that we may 

deal with as many issues as possible in the time allotted for 

this hearing. I would also ask that Committee members, 

witnesses and officials from the Office of the Auditor General 

wait until they are recognized by the Chair before speaking. 

This will keep the discussion more orderly and allow those 

listening on the radio or over the Internet to know who is 

speaking. 

We will proceed now with Mr. Ferguson’s opening 

statement. 

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you. Mr. Chair, I am pleased to 

be in Whitehorse today to discuss our report on capital asset 

management in Yukon. This report was tabled on March 6 in 

the Yukon Legislative Assembly. Joining me today is Casey 

Thomas, the Principal responsible for the audit. 

The Department of Highways and Public Works is 

responsible for maintaining government buildings. It is also 

responsible for constructing new buildings and for renovating 

or demolishing existing buildings. Other departments are 

responsible to help identify maintenance projects for the 

buildings they occupy and to pay for those projects. 

We found that when the Department of Education and the 

Department of Health and Social Services made decisions 

about projects for the buildings they occupy, they considered 

the costs as well as the health and safety of the people who 

use the buildings.  

Departments need to know the condition of buildings 

before they decide what needs to be done with them. It has 

been almost 10 years since we first recommended that the 

Department of Highways and Public Works assess the 

government’s buildings to gather this type of information. We 

found that the department had assessed many of the 

government’s buildings. These assessments identified serious 

deficiencies, such as major structural problems. However, we 

were concerned that departments didn’t use the assessments 

because the Department of Highways and Public Works had 

not verified their accuracy. 

We also found that the Department of Highways and 

Public Works had a process to prioritize maintenance projects 

that considered health, safety and cost. Unfortunately, the 

department didn’t always follow this process. Specifically, we 

found that of the more than $13 million spent on maintenance 

in the 2015-16 fiscal year, $6.6 million was spent on projects 

that the department hadn’t identified as priorities. As a result, 
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maintenance work that could have waited was completed 

while some priority projects weren’t completed. For example, 

we found that in 2011, the department had identified the 

replacement of a heating fuel tank as a high priority. However, 

the department didn’t replace the tank until 2013 when the 

tank was leaking.  

The government has limited resources to spend on 

maintaining its buildings. Therefore, it is important that it 

prioritize building maintenance projects so that it completes 

projects with the greatest need first.  

In 2007-08, the Workers’ Compensation Health and 

Safety Board, along with other departments and agencies of 

the Government of Yukon, led a pilot project for radon 

testing. We found unresolved issues related to the radon levels 

found in some of the buildings tested. We recommended that 

the departments work to resolve these issues and they have 

agreed with this recommendation.  

Finally, we looked at transportation infrastructure in this 

audit. The transportation network is essential for many 

isolated communities, and its maintenance is important for 

user safety. Overall, we were satisfied with how the 

department identified and prioritized risks for this network. 

Mr. Chair, this concludes my opening statement. We 

would be happy to answer any questions that the Committee 

may have. 

Mr. McConnell: Good morning. I am Paul McConnell, 

and I am the Acting Deputy Minister of Highways and Public 

Works. Joining me from the department today are Scott 

Milton, the Acting Assistant Deputy Minister of the Property 

Management division, and Paul Murchison, director of 

Transportation Engineering. 

I am here with you today to account for and to respond to 

the report of the Auditor General of Canada to the Yukon 

Legislative Assembly 2017, on capital asset management. The 

audit focused on whether Highways and Public Works, 

Education, and Health and Social Services met their 

responsibilities for capital asset management and builds on 

audits previously conducted in 2007, 2009 and 2012.  

This audit is important because Highways and Public 

Works understands that the condition of the government’s 

assets has significant impact on the lives of all Yukoners. 

Building occupants have the right to a safe and healthy 

environment. Known risks in the Yukon, such as changing 

permafrost conditions and radon gas, add to the importance of 

good capital asset management.  

Roads, highways and bridges are also important because 

they are vital links between our communities. Citizens rely on 

this infrastructure for the activities of daily living.  

The Government of Yukon’s capital assets include more 

than 500 owned buildings worth an estimated $1.6 billion for 

replacement value. These include schools, health centres, 

courts, libraries and other facilities that deliver essential 

public services and programs. On the transportation side, the 

government’s assets include a network comprised of 133 

bridges and approximately 4,800 kilometres of roads and 

highways. The net value of these assets is estimated at around 

$630 million. 

Delivering millions of dollars’ worth of major capital 

projects each year comes with enormous challenges and 

creates a demanding environment for our teams of engineers 

and project managers. We work hard to ensure that cost 

control and building users’ health and safety are top priority, 

both on the transportation side and on the vertical 

infrastructure side. 

With the most recent performance audit, we are pleased 

that the auditor has acknowledged the strong performance of 

our Transportation division. That said, there are some focus 

areas of the audit that are a concern to me and my colleagues. 

I acknowledge that some recommendations made 10 years ago 

have not yet been fully implemented. We are working hard to 

fix that. 

We appreciate the feedback and the analysis provided by 

the Auditor General and agree fully with the recommendations 

put forth. Yukon government released an action plan to 

address the concerns identified by the report, which I will 

discuss in more detail in a moment. 

Capital asset management covers the entire lifecycle of an 

asset, including planning, construction, assessment, 

maintenance and replacement. This is the core business of 

Transportation and Property Management divisions, and I am 

proud of the progress and results these groups have achieved 

over the past few years. I do, however, acknowledge that more 

work is required to address the challenges that lie ahead. 

The 2017 audit focused on five key themes: building 

condition assessments, permafrost, radon gas, project 

prioritization, and transportation infrastructure. I would like to 

start with radon. The Office of the Auditor General found that 

testing and follow-up was lacking, re-testing procedures were 

not standardized, and record-keeping was inadequate. It has 

been established that there was a lack of clarity and 

understanding around roles and responsibilities between 

departments and service providers. Government departments 

need to do better. 

Moving forward, Yukon government will execute on a 

host of initiatives to address the Auditor General’s 

recommendations. The Public Service Commission is 

currently working with Highways and Public Works and other 

departments to develop a whole-of-government radon 

management program. Within Highways and Public Works, 

testing is underway in department-controlled buildings. 

Remediation will occur in buildings that show elevated levels 

of radon. Detailed testing and remediation records will be 

compiled in a database in accordance with the 

recommendation of the report. 

Building condition assessments and project prioritization 

— the audit recognized the progress that Highways and Public 

Works has made on assessing the conditions of our buildings. 

This past year, we finished conducting building condition 

assessments for all of our significant buildings — 295 in total. 

Each year, 20 percent of the portfolio will be reassessed 

and maintenance projects identified. Working closely with our 

clients, we are now focused on the most pressing priorities 

and we are working to develop multi-year building 

maintenance plans for each department. Working from 
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evidence-based, long-term maintenance plans will help us 

anticipate emerging requirements and better apply integrated 

asset management strategies to get the most out of our 

maintenance dollars. This approach represents a fundamental 

philosophy shift toward a more proactive or preventive 

approach toward building maintenance and is an effort driven 

by previous Auditor General recommendations. 

The audit was also critical of the fact that sometimes we 

advanced capital maintenance projects that had not been 

formally prioritized or put through a defined scoring process. 

While advancing unscored projects is typically an exception, 

not the norm, going forward we will prioritize all capital 

maintenance projects. Updating our building maintenance 

policy was a key recommendation previously made in the 

2012 report. I am happy to report that the new policy is being 

finalized. Client departments have been instrumental in the 

development of the new policy, having participated in an 

intensive four-day systemic design workshop. 

Permafrost — managing the impacts from permafrost is 

another area that requires close collaboration with, and 

responsiveness to, the needs of our client departments. In 

2011, Highways and Public Works and the Yukon Geological 

Survey worked together on the infrastructure vulnerability to 

permafrost degradation project. The project examined 135 

buildings and identified 57 as vulnerable to permafrost 

degradation. The report also identified 18 buildings that had 

already experienced permafrost impacts. The report 

recommended that at-risk buildings undergo detailed 

geotechnical, geophysical and engineering investigations. 

Moving forward, permafrost considerations will be more 

proactively addressed and will be a focus on the department’s 

upcoming building design standards manual, which will be 

implemented early next year. 

We will also be carrying out screening level structural 

assessments as part of the next building condition assessment 

cycle. We are also developing a monitoring and assessment 

plan for Yukon government buildings located on sensitive 

permafrost areas.  

In closing, I would like to say that I am pleased with the 

progress the department has made over the past few years in 

managing our portfolio of assets, while also recognizing that 

there is more work to be done. Thank you for your time, and I 

look forward to any questions you may have. 

Ms. Arnold: Good morning. I am Judy Arnold, Deputy 

Minister of Education. Joining me from the department today 

are Cyndy Dekuysscher, Assistant Deputy Minister of 

Corporate Services, and Miles Hume, Health and Safety 

consultant. 

First, I would like to thank the Office of the Auditor 

General for bringing the issue of radon management to the 

attention of the Government of Yukon. Today we look 

forward to responding to your questions and, should you 

require further information that we were unable to provide, we 

will be happy to forward it to you following today’s hearing. 

The Government of Yukon is working on the 

development of a radon management strategy for its buildings. 

As Deputy Minister McConnell mentioned, the Public Service 

Commission’s health and safety implementation 

subcommittee is drafting a radon guideline for all 

departments. Education is participating fully in this process. 

The radon guideline will outline the Yukon government’s 

practices for testing and remediation consistent with the 

Health Canada Guide for Radon Measurements in Public 

Buildings and the requirements of Yukon’s Occupational 

Health and Safety Act. These requirements are further defined 

under policy 3.48 Corporate Health and Safety in the General 

Administration Manual.  

In the meantime, the Department of Education has not 

waited to act. We are monitoring our schools and our building 

assets. As you may recall, we committed to installing radon 

monitoring equipment in 50 percent of our building assets by 

the end of the 2016-17 school year, with the remaining 50 

percent to be done by the end of the 2017-18 school year. In 

fact, we conducted our first round of long-term radon 

monitoring in 100 percent of Education’s buildings this past 

winter. In order to achieve an accurate reading of radon levels 

in a given space, one must measure radon levels over a 

minimum of three months. This process should ideally occur 

over the winter months. This is the time of year that radon gas 

tends to accumulate in higher concentrations. These results 

will provide us with baseline data for each of our schools.  

Our work to monitor radon levels in all Yukon schools 

was recently recognized by CAREX Canada. CAREX is a 

national research project based at Simon Fraser University in 

BC about radon in Canadian schools. Yukon is one of five 

provinces and territories to have checked all schools at least 

once since Health Canada changed its guidelines in 2007. 

Radon monitoring equipment from schools was sent to the lab 

for lab analysis this spring. We just received and compiled our 

monitoring data for the 2016-17 school year. These results are 

now posted to the department website for review by the 

public. Over the summer, Education will prepare information 

to be shared with our schools when school resumes for the 

2017-18 school year. Staff will receive information about the 

building in which they work, and letters with up-to-date radon 

information will be prepared for each school community.  

Our school communities include staff, students, their 

families, school councils and our First Nations. Should any of 

the results come in above the range recommended by Health 

Canada, further testing and remediation will be required. To 

err on the side of caution, radon remediation work was 

ordered and will be completed in three Education buildings 

over the summer of 2017. The three schools are: Jack Hulland 

Elementary School, Nelnah Bessie John community school, 

and the Teen Parent Centre. The recent results have confirmed 

these schools are in need of remediation. This work was 

actually ordered before the monitoring results were available 

based on these schools’ higher results from the 2008 testing 

and some of the early numbers from the monitoring 

equipment that was installed in 2016. We did consider — and 

are still considering — deciding about precautionary 

remediation work for the fourth building that had tested higher 

in 2008. That building is Holy Family elementary school. Its 
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current monitoring results are showing that its radon levels are 

within acceptable levels.  

These four buildings will continue to be monitored long 

term to ensure the remediation work has been successful and 

that radon levels remain within the recommended range. If 

radon levels read higher in a building, we will continue to 

remediate efforts and monitor radon levels until we are 

confident that they have dropped to an acceptable level. To be 

clear, schools’ results with above the levels recommended by 

Health Canada will be prioritized for radon remediation. 

Schools with results near levels recommended by Health 

Canada will continue to be monitored. All schools will 

continue to be monitored. Education will continue these 

practices and remediation until such time as the government’s 

radon guideline is in place. At that time, we will ensure our 

activities are consistent with the guidelines of the Government 

of Yukon while addressing the needs and expectations of our 

schools, our staff, parents and community. We will also 

follow all guidelines and recommendations as set out by the 

Public Service Commission’s health and safety 

implementation subcommittee. 

Moving forward, all records of radon monitoring and 

testing conducted in buildings under the custody and control 

of Education, which we are currently storing in the 

department, will be uploaded to Corporate Health and Safety’s 

Parklane system consistent with the requirements of the radon 

guideline. Again, the 2016-17 monitoring results are now 

available on our website.  

I would like to thank you for the opportunity to speak 

today. The health and safety of our students and staff is our 

first priority in Education. We are committed to continuing to 

monitor and remediate as needed, going forward, and to report 

on these actions to school communities and the public. 

Mr. Chair, this concludes my opening statements. I look 

forward to answering any questions the Committee may have. 

Ms. Doyle: Good morning, Mr. Chair. The Department 

of Health and Social Services is pleased to appear before the 

Public Accounts Committee to respond to the performance 

audit on the capital asset management conducted by the 

Auditor General of Canada. 

I am Brenda Lee Doyle, Acting Deputy Minister of 

Health and Social Services and I would like to begin by first 

introducing the officials who accompany me today: 

Geraldine MacDonald, director of Family and Children’s 

Services, and Kathy Fredrickson, director of Corporate 

Planning and Risk Management. 

This morning we look forward to responding to your 

questions and, should you require additional information that 

we are unable to provide at this time, we would be happy to 

forward that information to you following today’s hearing. 

Like my colleague from Education, Dr. Arnold, I too would 

like to thank the Auditor General for bringing the issue of 

radon to the attention of the Yukon government and, more 

specifically, Health and Social Services. 

I would also like to take this opportunity to not only thank 

the Auditor General’s office and staff, but also our Health and 

Social Services staff, who have supported the audit process. I 

have been advised that this has been a very cooperative and 

collaborative undertaking. 

The Department of Health and Social Services views the 

audit process as beneficial and significant to focus our efforts 

on continuous improvement of our services and supports to 

Yukoners. The Auditor General’s report on capital asset 

management provides two recommendations specifically 

directed toward the work of our department. Additional points 

are made in the narrative of the report. 

As noted by the Auditor General, the scope of the audit 

covers capital assets of the Government of Yukon, some of 

which are buildings that fall under the custody and control of 

the Department of Health and Social Services. Others 

referenced in the report are not in our control. 

While we consider childcare centres and day homes to 

fall outside the stated audit scope, you will note that the 

Auditor General’s report includes findings and comments 

about them as well. While we are always concerned about the 

safety of our staff and those individuals who are in our care, 

the Auditor General’s report has reminded us that we cannot 

take things for granted. Further, the audit has underlined the 

importance of working more closely with our childcare 

community to ensure owners and operators and their young 

charges are also safe from harm of radon. In addition, it has 

also reinforced the importance of working more closely with 

our government colleagues in other departments.  

The recommendations made by the Auditor General in 

the report are helpful, and we began addressing them many 

months ago. We took the proactive step of contacting all day 

homes and daycare centres. We provided information about 

radon to facilities and information about how to communicate 

radon testing with their parents, families, boards of directors 

and staff. Radon testing has been completed on our 24/7 

facilities, including group homes and our residential care 

facilities. While we had anticipated the results by the end of 

July, we actually received them two days ago. We will be 

pleased to speak to them. 

In addition, we have undertaken several public awareness 

and education campaigns on radon since 2012.  

The department will continue to test all of our community 

health centres in 2017-18 fiscal year and is developing 

subsequent testing cycles. We have taken proactive steps 

within the department as well as participated in the responses 

at the government-wide level. I am happy to provide more 

details of the department’s responses further in these hearings.  

The Auditor General’s recommendation will serve to help 

ensure the maintenance of healthy, safe buildings for our 

employees, clients, residents and other building users. The 

department is committed to continuous improvement and 

development to ensure the ongoing provision of high-quality, 

effective care and service. 

Mr. Chair, I look forward to taking questions from the 

Committee members. Thank you. 

Mr. Hassard: Thank you very much. I will begin the 

question part this morning. My first question is for the Office 

of the Auditor General.  
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Could you please explain how your office selected capital 

asset management as a matter for evaluation? 

Mr. Ferguson: Our process for selecting audits is that 

we look at the various departments and the various programs 

that departments offer, and we try to identify where there may 

be risks to the delivery of those programs.  

In particular, with capital assets, we had done an audit in 

2007. We had done some follow-up work afterwards that 

indicated that things still hadn’t been completely improved, so 

we felt we needed to go back and look at this area again. So 

part of it was our normal risk assessment and part of it was the 

fact that we needed to follow up to make sure 

recommendations that we had made in the past were being 

acted on. 

Mr. Hassard: So the Office of the Auditor General 

found that generally the Department of Highways and Public 

Works had systems and practices in place for managing the 

maintenance and repair of government-owned buildings. 

However, paragraph 17 of the report notes that the department 

did not use building condition assessment information in its 

asset management decisions because it had not yet verified the 

data from these assessments. This is despite the fact that the 

OAG had recommended, almost 10 years earlier, that the 

department assess its buildings to develop a long-term 

building maintenance plan. 

Can the department tell us, over the past 10 years, what 

initiatives or efforts did the department undertake to develop a 

long-term building maintenance plan? 

Mr. McConnell: While I recognize and acknowledge 

that my department has not made the progress that we had 

committed to in 2007, I do want to advise that we have made 

significant progress over the past few years. We have 

implemented a project-scoring system to identify the highest 

priority projects for inclusion in capital budgets. We will have 

completed building condition assessment on all our buildings 

now, and we will use that information to develop long-term 

capital maintenance plans. We have purchased facility 

management software called VFA.facility and have loaded all 

of the data into the software. We have worked closely with 

clients in departments to define improvements to the processes 

of building maintenance, including a recent systemic design 

workshop, and we have introduced project budget 

management software to improve budgeting, communication 

and project oversight. 

Mr. Hassard: Can you also explain the department’s 

failure to use the information that was previously gathered? 

Mr. McConnell: Our current process relies on 

departments and our own staff to identify potential building 

maintenance projects and then submit them for scoring and 

prioritization.  

This came through our ongoing maintenance work 

documentation and observations of building conditions, as 

well as specialized or one-off assessments. Now that we have 

completed building condition assessments for all buildings 

that meet our criteria, once we complete the verification of 

that data, we can start using this information to identify our 

highest priority building maintenance projects across the 

entire portfolio.  

Having a complete picture of the condition of our 

building portfolio is driving two major changes in how we 

plan for capital maintenance. One is that we are shifting from 

an annual plan to a multi-year plan; two is that we now rely on 

building condition assessments to identify the bulk of our 

building maintenance projects.  

Mr. Adel: Mr. McConnell, I just have a question for 

you. It’s with the verification of data. It’s an ongoing theme 

that I’ve seen in the reports since 2007. You send your people 

out for the departments and then you wait to verify the data. 

Are we doing the assessment twice then, or how are we 

dealing with that?  

Mr. McConnell: The assessments have now been 

completed, and the process for verification of the data is now 

ongoing. Part of that process also includes costing of the work 

that was identified. So it is all ongoing now and we hope to 

have it completed by later this fall so that we can utilize it in 

capital maintenance planning for next fiscal year.  

Mr. Adel: Mr. McConnell, I think my question was: 

Are you using Outside people to verify the data, or are your 

own people qualified to verify that data?  

Mr. McConnell: It’s a combination of internal 

resources as well as external consultants assisting us in that 

process.  

Mr. Gallina: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to 

the department officials who have joined us here today. In 

paragraph 26 of the report, it states: “Department officials… 

decided in 2015 to inspect only those buildings that were 

larger than 100 square metres and contained electrical or 

mechanical systems.” What was the rationale for this?  

Mr. McConnell: The 295 buildings that meet this 

criteria account for more than 97 percent of the total floor area 

of our portfolio and comprise all our major buildings. The 

remaining buildings that were not assessed are typically things 

like cabins, sheds, small garages and other storage facilities.  

Smaller, simple buildings can be more easily assessed by 

our technical staff, and most repair needs — for example, 

fixing a door or a broken window — can be taken care of 

through building work requests.  

Mr. Gallina: In paragraph 27, it states: “… the 

Department had assessed 238 buildings…” The next 

paragraph references a number of deficiencies. What was the 

overall condition of these buildings? Can you provide the 

Committee with a list of the deficiencies found?  

Can you provide the Committee with a list of the 

deficiencies found?  

In terms of the age of these buildings, how old are they? 

How does their overall age and condition compare to other 

jurisdictions?  

Mr. McConnell: One of the key measures provided by 

the facility management software we are using is called a 

“facility condition index.” This is widely used by 

governments and other public organizations as a benchmark to 

compare the relative condition of a group of facilities. It is the 

ratio of the cost of the maintenance and repair requirements 
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for a building compared to the cost of replacing the building. 

Basically, as the number gets higher, it tells us that a building 

condition is declining. When the costs of outstanding 

maintenance needs starts to approach the cost of a new 

building, it also provides guidance for when we should look at 

whether a building should be replaced.  

In regard to providing the list, yes, we will provide a list. 

I would ask that we complete our verification process and 

have that list finalized before submitting it to the Committee.  

In relation to the age of the buildings, the average age of 

the buildings is 36 — almost 37 years on average — but that 

includes a number of historical buildings, some of which are 

over 100 years old. If we pulled those out, the average age 

would be around 34 years.  

In terms of a comparison with other jurisdictions, we 

have not completed a formal comparison of that but I would 

say anecdotally — in speaking with other jurisdictions — we 

understand they’re facing similar challenges in relation to the 

aging condition of their buildings.  

Mr. Gallina: On the overall age and condition — how 

does the overall age and condition compare to other 

jurisdictions? Can you elaborate on that please?  

Mr. McConnell: Once we’ve had the opportunity to 

complete our data verification, we’ll be able to have a final 

number as it relates to the facility condition index. That is a 

number that we can compare with other jurisdictions. We have 

not undertaken that work as of yet. As mentioned, I would 

suggest, based on conversations and discussions with other 

jurisdictions, we are probably in a similar situation. But once 

we have some more metrics that we can conduct in 

comparison, we certainly will.  

Mr. Gallina: What’s your timeline and plan to 

undertake the work to establish those metrics?  

Mr. McConnell: Mr. Chair, it’s our expectation that we 

will have completed the data verification early this fall and 

then we’ll be in a position at that time to make a comparison.  

Ms. Hanson: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The report 

recommends in paragraph 32 that: “The Department of 

Highways and Public Works should complete all planned 

building assessments, verify the data in the assessments, and 

then incorporate this information into the maintenance plans 

for all buildings in its portfolio.”  

The Department of Highways and Public Works 

responded that the department “… will verify the building 

condition assessments…” We’ve heard about this this 

morning in the database in the 2017-18 fiscal year for use in 

building maintenance planning.  

My first question is: How is it possible that Highways and 

Public Works had assessed 238 buildings but were not able to 

use information in the assessments because they had not 

verified the accuracy of the data in the building information 

system?  

I guess a supplementary question is: Does that imply that 

they do not have confidence in the quality of the information 

that you’ve gathered?  

Mr. McConnell: Mr. Chair, I’ll start with the last one. 

We have absolute confidence in the information gathered. We 

understand that this type of verification is a normal process to 

follow when rolling out this type of software and analysis. 

In relation to the building verification, we have been 

working with the consultant, Roth Integrated Asset 

Management Strategies Ltd., along with our staff, to review 

and verify data housed in our facility management software. 

It’s a high priority for the department and we are on track to 

begin using this information to develop our 2018-19 capital 

budget. 

Despite the progress being slower than we would have 

hoped, we are pleased that the work done over the past few 

years to address the building portfolio will provide valuable 

guidance to us as we plan future maintenance processes. In 

terms of what is involved, I need to be clear that many 

maintenance requirements generated from the assessments 

come from the age of the building and the building systems. 

Others are identified by observed conditions, verified by 

visual inspection.  

In our review, we are going through this list of 

requirements to determine if a system that is nearing the end 

of its expected life is actually in need of repair or replacement. 

Conversely, the system that is not identified as in need of 

repair may be failing prematurely. We also want to make sure 

that the costing estimates provided are accurate and up to date, 

as this is important to our planning. 

Ms. Hanson: Just to be clear, Highways and Public 

Works had assessed 238 buildings; you weren’t able to use the 

information. We’re talking about past tense, and I get the 

sense that you’re referring to a system that you’re putting into 

place for the future. So my question is: You weren’t able to 

use it because you could not verify the accuracy of the data in 

the building information system for the last 10 years? 

Mr. McConnell: We have just finished completing the 

building condition assessments. Following that, the next step 

in that process was to do a verification of that data which, as I 

described earlier, also would include costing. These 

assessments were just completed in this past year. During the 

time of the audit, I think we were at the 238 number you had 

referenced and, if you go back a few years before that, we 

were at a very small number — less than 10 percent of the 

portfolio. So these condition assessments have happened over 

the past few years, and now we are moving into the data 

verification phase. 

Ms. Hanson: All right, thank you, Mr. McConnell. 

Building on that, can you provide a status update? You said 

you have just completed the building condition assessments 

and are in the process of doing the verification of those 

building condition assessments. Can you provide an update on 

the verification of those building condition assessments in 

terms of when they will be completed? 

Mr. McConnell: Mr. Chair, it is our expectation that 

we will have completed the verification in time to use that 

information for capital planning purposes for the next fiscal 

year, which I would expect to be this fall. 

Ms. Hanson: So just to confirm, the intent is that the 

database that will have the verified building condition 

assessments will be completed by the fall of 2017. 
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The department also agreed to use the building condition 

assessment data to identify and plan building maintenance 

projects for inclusion, as the deputy just mentioned, in capital 

budgets going forward — 2018-19. Can you confirm that this 

has been completed? What criteria have been used for the 

guidelines? 

Mr. McConnell: In the process right now, we are in the 

verification phase. What we need to do then, once that has 

been completed, is to prioritize those projects in combination 

with projects that have previously been assessed through our 

previous process, and then combine that information and 

make sure that we have ranked all of the projects — and that 

we are in a position to then action the highest, most important 

projects and health and safety issues, and move that into the 

planning process for next year’s capital maintenance plan. 

Ms. Hanson: That is to confirm that it will be done by 

the fall of 2017. 

Mr. McConnell: Yes, that is the date that we are 

working toward — the fall of 2017. 

Mr. Adel: The OAG reported in paragraph 30 that: “ … 

the Department did not always share the building condition 

assessments with program departments. This means that the 

program departments made decisions about building 

maintenance and capital development without having access 

to this information.” The report recommends in paragraph 32 

that: “The Department of Highways and Public Works 

should… also share the building assessment information with 

program departments.” The Department of Highways and 

Public Works responded that: “When the review for data 

integrity and accuracy is complete, the building condition 

assessment data will be made available to program 

departments.” 

My question is: How many assessments were shared with 

program departments? 

Mr. McConnell: Currently we have shared very few 

building condition assessments with client departments. Once 

we have finished verifying the data in our software, we will be 

getting that information to departments as our next step. We 

are also working to develop tools to share the data with our 

client groups, including developing building scorecards that 

outline current conditions and future requirements for 

maintenance. 

Mr. Adel: I know we have gone over this, but will the 

deadline to complete this sharing exercise be in the fall of this 

year as well? 

Mr. McConnell: As part of our client service 

improvement action plan, we are working hard to share with 

departments the building condition information. It is our 

intention to have that information shared in time for planning 

purposes for the 2018-19 fiscal year, which means we need to 

have it shared this fall. 

Mr. Adel: I think we have already covered my next 

question.  

How much money did Highways and Public Works spend 

on systems to respond to the recommendations of the 2009, 

2012 OAG audits? 

Mr. McConnell: I think that would be difficult to 

quantify. From my review of the 2007 audit, there was a lot of 

work across the department that needed to be done to improve 

asset management as well as improvements in other areas. So 

there has been a lot of work done over the years. I think it 

would be difficult to quantify how much of that was in 

relation to recommendations from the audit, so I don’t have a 

cost estimate on that.  

Mr. Adel: Well, this is 2007 to 2017, and we’ve been 

10 years. We’ve been looking for verification of data. A lot of 

stuff is starting to happen now, so I would appreciate it if you 

could report back to the Committee with an estimate of what 

has been done and the capital that has been expended to get 

systems in place that have taken the 10 years.  

Mr. McConnell: I absolutely can get back to the 

Committee with an estimate on what has been expended as it 

relates to facility condition assessments. I took the question to 

be broader than that — of all the responses that we had to 

make to the 2007, 2009 audits. So for your specific question 

there, I can commit to do that.  

Mr. Cathers: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I would like to 

thank the witnesses for appearing here this morning in the 

Assembly. I see some new faces here as well, so welcome to 

your new roles.  

Just in prefacing my question, I also want to begin by 

acknowledging the fact that, particularly since much of the 

focus of the Auditor General’s report and questioning today 

has been on issues that have, in some cases, been ongoing or 

not completely rectified for years — I do want to 

acknowledge that most of the senior officials here are actually 

relatively new in the roles that you have. While recognizing 

that the department issues do need to be addressed, I believe 

that it should be noted for the record that both Ms. Doyle and 

Mr. McConnell are acting in their roles and have been since, I 

believe, November or December. I believe Dr. Arnold is, in 

fact, the senior deputy minister here in the room, having been 

here since early 2015. If I have my information correct, I think 

Brenda Lee Doyle began as ADM about a year and a half ago, 

and Mr. McConnell began about two years ago as assistant 

deputy minister. I just want to acknowledge that you have 

inherited some issues and I appreciate the steps that have been 

taken on them.  

Moving on to asking about some of the specific areas in 

here, I want to note that in 2012, the Auditor General 

recommended that the Government of Yukon review the 

building and equipment maintenance policy to clarify the roles 

and responsibilities of the Department of Highways and 

Public Works and other departments for funding and carrying 

out building inspections. But, as noted in paragraph 31 of the 

Auditor General’s report, the policy had been revised but not 

yet approved at the time of that.  

If I understand correctly, based on the discussion earlier 

in questions from other Committee members, I believe that 

you had indicated, Mr. McConnell, that the building 

equipment and maintenance policy has been finalized and is 

currently in the approval process. Do I understand correctly, 

or has that policy in fact already been approved?  
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Mr. McConnell:  That policy has not been approved. The 

policy is in the approval phase internally within the 

Department of Highways and Public Works. After that, it will 

then be advanced for formal approval. No, it is not yet 

implemented. 

Mr. Cathers: If I understand correctly from the 

response given to Ms. Hanson, I understood that the database 

was being developed and expected to be in place by later this 

fall. Is the building equipment and maintenance policy itself 

expected to be finalized and in place by the fall of 2017? Is 

this policy expected to be implemented all at once, or is it a 

phased-in approach for the implementation? 

Mr. McConnell: It is my hope and a priority of the 

department to advance the building maintenance policy and to 

seek its approval at the earliest opportunity. In terms of its 

implementation, there are some elements that will require a 

phased-in approach, and that is in relation to financial aspects 

of the policy. 

Mr. Cathers: Does the policy itself require Cabinet 

approval? 

Mr. McConnell:  It is my understanding that the 

submission requires both Cabinet and Management Board 

approval. 

Mr. Hutton: I would like to thank all the witnesses for 

being here this morning. I am going to take a bit of a shift and 

we’re going to talk about permafrost. 

Permafrost is ground that remains frozen for longer than 

two consecutive years. When it thaws, it can result in shifting 

ground, which can damage roads and buildings, rendering 

them unsafe. We know that melting permafrost is a growing 

concern in the north and we have seen the impacts. We know 

that Highways and Public Works and Yukon Geological 

Survey examined 135 government-owned buildings. 

Paragraph 34 of the OAG report notes that 42 percent of 

those buildings were identified as vulnerable to permafrost 

degradation and that 13 percent had suffered effects of 

permafrost degradation. The infrastructure vulnerability to 

permafrost degradation project report recommended that at-

risk buildings undergo detailed geotechnical, geophysical and 

engineering investigations. The OAG report found that the 

department had investigated only three of 57 buildings. It is 

worrisome that there are 54 buildings that have not been 

investigated for safety and have not been prioritized for 

repairs or mitigations. 

My first question is: What is the definition of 

“investigation”? Is that the same as a building condition 

assessment? 

Mr. McConnell:  It is more advanced than a building 

condition assessment. “Investigated” means that a follow-up 

site visit would be conducted with a more detailed assessment 

performed to include site-specific geotechnical, structural and 

climactic analysis. This site visit helps further understanding 

of the geotechnical factors and overall character and condition 

of the specific location and to assess whether any damage to 

the building had occurred already and whether specific 

buildings are at high or low risk. 

Mr. Hutton: You’ve mentioned that you completed 

building condition assessments on all 238 buildings. Have 

these 54 buildings still not been investigated for safety?  

Mr. McConnell: Yes, we have completed building 

condition assessments on 295 buildings. These buildings 

would have been inspected for structural safety under the 

building condition assessment. What we did not do was 

complete additional geotechnical analysis that was 

recommended in the report from 2011.  

Mr. Hutton: So there are still 54 buildings that require 

that work to be done?  

Mr. McConnell: Yes, there is more work to be done. 

We have an action plan that’s under development to advance 

work on this important priority. In June of this year, we 

entered into a contract with Tetra Tech EBA to perform a 

detailed assessment of vulnerable buildings located on 

permafrost throughout Yukon. The goal of the contract with 

EBA is to develop an action plan that will be used to guide 

our mitigation efforts.  

I just wanted to add that it’s our expectation that those 

assessments will be completed later this fall.  

Mr. Hutton: The buildings that were known to have 

concerns — why were they not investigated or prioritized — 

the 54 out of the 57?  

Mr. McConnell: As I mentioned earlier, we have 

assessed all of our buildings for structural integrity; however, 

not specifically for the risk from permafrost degradation. It’s 

my belief that following the 2012 audit, the department’s 

focus was on improving space planning and leasing as well as 

advancing the building condition assessments. Given the 

building condition assessments were ongoing, that would 

identify if there were any safety issues or structural issues 

with the building.  

Mr. Hutton: I can certainly appreciate that, but as a 

born-and-raised Yukoner, permafrost is something I’ve lived 

with my entire life up here and it’s not something that you 

turn a blind eye to and it corrects itself. These buildings — if 

they were in bad shape 10 years ago, they’re in much worse 

shape right now because of that permafrost degradation. I’m 

wondering why there is no sense of priority to go out and 

spend the “ounce of prevention” as opposed to a “pound of 

cure” a few years down the road.  

Mr. McConnell: Thank you for the question. There is 

certainly a sense of priority. That is why we have engaged the 

consultant to have the assessments done and that we’re 

working to have that completed by this fall. I would also add 

to that — if there was structural — if permafrost was causing 

building damage, that would have been identified in the 

building condition assessment. The assessments were 

happening on the buildings — just not to the detailed level 

that was recommended in the 2011 report. Recognizing that is 

important information — being proactive and moving forward 

to prevent buildings from suffering from permafrost 

degradation, we are undertaking that work at this time.  

Mr. Hutton: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Is the intent that, 

once your data has been verified in your new system, is it 
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likely that these 54 buildings are going to be fairly high on the 

priority list, or is that something that you can speculate on? 

Mr. McConnell: I would say that, once we have had 

the opportunity to verify all the data in there, we would be 

able to look at the condition of these buildings in relation to 

all the other assets and determine where they fell in terms of 

priority, and we would make a portfolio-wide assessment of 

what needed to occur. 

Mr. Hutton: Just one final question: For the 

completion of the detailed geotechnical, geophysical and 

engineering investigations — are those going to be complete 

by this fall as well? 

Mr. McConnell: This project is split into four phases. 

Phase one has been completed; phase two is underway. We 

are on track and we believe that we will have the project 

completed later this fall. 

Mr. Hutton: Thank you. Those are all my questions, 

Mr. Chair. 

Chair: I have a few questions also regarding 

permafrost. Of those other 54 buildings that you spoke of, can 

you tell us — do you know if any of those buildings that are 

being impacted by the melting permafrost — how many or are 

any of them schools, health centres or other buildings that are 

used by the public? 

Mr. McConnell: I have a list of the 54 buildings and, 

once we have the final report back from our consultant, I 

would be happy to provide that to the Committee. I can say, 

while we’re on the topic of schools and as referenced in the 

Auditor General’s report, certainly Ross River School is 

probably the most significant of our assets that has been 

impacted by permafrost. 

Chair: Thank you. We would appreciate that list, for 

sure. 

Can you then tell us: What is the process for evaluating 

the potential risk, damages and costs to repair or replace 

government buildings? 

Mr. McConnell: As I mentioned, we have an action 

plan that is underway. Phase one of the project was to review 

the historical data and update and refine the database of 

vulnerable buildings. Phase two is on-site engineering 

assessments, which are currently ongoing. Phase three is the 

completion of the report with building-specific findings and 

recommendations, and the final phase will be the development 

of a detailed mitigation and adaptation plan for those 

buildings. 

Chair: Do you feel that the department is on track for 

addressing the permafrost risks? 

Mr. McConnell: Yes, I do. I think there has been 

significant — while there was a delay from the 2011 report, I 

will say the department is taking this matter seriously and has 

certainly been advancing that.  

I would also say that internally we realigned some 

resources and created a dedicated focus on energy as well, in 

terms of energy performance of our buildings. They have also 

then taken on the task of ensuring the permafrost work plan is 

actioned. 

Mr. Gallina: Just before we move on to radon gas, I 

just wanted to ask: How will Highways and Public Works 

work collaboratively with other departments in developing 

and implementing these capital maintenance plans that you are 

referring to? 

Mr. McConnell: We work closely with departments in 

the current process. We have an intergovernmental working 

group, and there is a lot of exchange of information on an 

ongoing basis from departments and the staff within Property 

Management division. Moving forward, we are going to be 

sharing the building condition assessment information with 

departments and working with them to identify their priorities 

and program needs. That will be taken back and looked at 

holistically, if you will, from a portfolio management 

perspective. In terms of also improving communication with 

client departments, with the introduction of the project budget 

management software system that we have in place now is an 

opportunity for departments to have up-to-date and accurate 

information as to current costing of projects that are ongoing 

and the status of projects as well. 

Mr. Gallina: Just on the software — do departments 

have access to the software or is HPW feeding them 

information that they are requesting? 

Mr. McConnell: Yes, departments have access to that 

system. 

Mr. Gallina: Moving on to the issue of radon gas, 

paragraph 39 of the report says: “Radon is an invisible, 

odourless, tasteless, radioactive gas formed by the 

disintegration of radium. When radon is confined or enclosed 

in poorly ventilated spaces, it can accumulate to high levels. 

According to Health Canada, radon is the second leading 

cause of lung cancer, after smoking.” 

We understand the risks of radon gas on our health, and 

we are aware that Yukon does experience high levels of radon 

gas as noted in paragraph 41: “The Occupational Health and 

Safety Act requires employers to ensure, so far as is 

reasonably practicable, that the workplace is safe and without 

risks to health…” It also requires employers to ensure that 

employees are aware of any hazard in the workplace.  

Radon testing indicated that there was radon in levels 

exceeding the Canadian guidelines. There was confusion, 

however, on how different departments were required to act.  

The OAG recommended in paragraph 57 that: “The 

Department of Highways and Public Works, the Department 

of Education, and the Department of Health and Social 

Services should make it a priority to work with the appropriate 

organizations to develop a strategy for managing the effects of 

radon in their buildings, including radon testing and 

remediation.” 

My first question: What is the status of the policy being 

created regarding corporate radon management? If not 

completed, what are the next steps being taken to complete 

this policy? 

Mr. McConnell: The Public Service Commission is 

leading the development of a radon guideline that will set out 

clear instructions for all government departments to follow. 

The Public Service Commission has been working with 
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government departments and representatives of the Health and 

Safety implementation subcommittee to develop this 

guideline. Once it is approved, it will be widely shared with 

departments for a consistent planned approach to radon testing 

and mitigation in Yukon government buildings. 

Mr. Gallina: Mr. McConnell, can you elaborate on 

how you’re working with other departments to develop these 

guidelines please? 

Mr. McConnell: There is a deputy-led committee, led 

by the Public Service Commission. In addition, there is also a 

working group that is supporting that committee and is made 

up of the health and safety representatives and the folks with 

the expertise in departments. They have been working on a 

draft policy. I believe that policy is close to completion and 

will be coming forward to the deputy-led health and safety 

committee for review and approval. 

Mr. Gallina: Can the officials outline in detail whether 

or not a strategy has been developed among HPW, Education, 

and Health and Social Services to manage the effects of radon 

in their buildings and in those that they license? 

Mr. McConnell: All three departments have initiated 

testing or monitoring in their facilities as an interim measure 

until the radon guideline is implemented. I can speak for 

Highways and Public Works to say we are currently testing 

for radon in all our Highways and Public Works-controlled 

buildings. 

Ms. Arnold: I would like to point out that when we 

need to move to remediation, which we have done — we did 

some remediation in 2009; we did some in 2016; and we have 

three sites, as I mentioned, that we need to work on this 

summer — we then work consistently and collaboratively 

with Highways and Public Works to get that work completed. 

The monitoring takes place; we find the results; we then 

work with Highways and Public Works to establish what 

needs to be done in terms of remediation moving forward. 

Mr. Gallina: Ms. Doyle, did you have any comments 

on Health and Social Services’ participation in the 

development of the strategy? 

Ms. Doyle: We have been very actively involved in the 

development of the strategy. Particularly, we have 24/7 

operations and so we have been working very closely on that 

development. Your question also talked about the licensing, so 

we also license child care. As you noted in our work plan, 

we’re exploring some options related to the licensing right 

now. 

Mr. Gallina: So is the plan for remediation of all the 

government buildings on schedule for the 2017-18 fiscal year? 

Mr. McConnell: Yes. 

Ms. Hanson: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I would just like to 

come back to the strategy for managing the effects of radon in 

government buildings, including testing and remediation. Can 

the officials outline the key elements of this strategy to 

manage the effects of radon in Highways and Public Works, 

Education and Health and Social Services buildings and those 

they license? Ms. Arnold made reference to the notion of 

testing and monitoring. I would imagine those are two key 

elements, but can you outline sort of the key elements of the 

strategy that is being pushed through the system as we speak?  

Mr. McConnell: I have yet to see the proposal that is 

coming from the working group of the health and safety 

committee. I will see it when it is presented to the 

subcommittee of health and safety. I can say that, right now, 

Highways and Public Works, the Department of Health and 

Social Services and the Department of Education are 

undertaking testing and, if that testing determines that radon 

levels are above the recommended Health Canada guidelines, 

the Department of Highways and Public Works will action 

remediation on that facility. 

Ms. Hanson: So there is not a draft of the strategy in 

June 2017? When do you expect to see a draft? When you 

expect that this strategy will be completed? 

Mr. McConnell: I believe there is a draft. I have not 

seen it. There was a meeting of the deputy-led health and 

safety committee that had been postponed, unfortunately. Had 

that occurred, I would have been able to answer that question 

more specifically for you. For the Chair, right now, that said, I 

know that there has been — from talking to our representative 

on the committee — a lot of work done, and I believe that 

they are well advanced in development of their strategy. 

Ms. Hanson: On this then, this report was tabled in 

March of this year and, prior to that, the officials — as we 

heard — had worked collaboratively with the Auditor 

General’s Office and identified and agreed to all the 

recommendations in here, including this. I guess I’m seeking 

confirmation of when — so we won’t be looking at another 

multi-year — because we’ll be now a year. I am sort of 

looking for confirmation of when this strategy will be 

completed. We don’t know the key elements, but I’m 

presuming that, when we get confirmation, this strategy will 

include testing and remediation. 

Mr. McConnell: I can assure you that the strategy will 

include testing and remediation. It would be my expectation 

that this strategy and guideline for all Yukon government 

departments will be completed this fall. That said, when this 

matter was raised to us by the Office of the Auditor General, 

all three departments in the interim took steps to do testing for 

radon levels. What we’re seeking to achieve now is a whole-

of-government strategy to ensure consistency across all 

government departments. 

Ms. Hanson: I appreciate the response. In the work that 

has been done in the interim — has appropriate remediation 

occurred in those buildings identified? How is it determined 

that the response was appropriate? What assurances do you 

have that the response to remediation of identified radon 

situations has been appropriately dealt with? 

Mr. McConnell: Once the remediation work has been 

undertaken, then there is additional testing that follows that 

remediation to confirm that the work undertaken was 

effective. 

Mr. Adel: I was remiss earlier in not thanking everyone 

for coming today with their expertise and time. We appreciate 

that, as always.  
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The Department of Education’s responses to the OAG’s 

recommendations said that the department has begun work on 

testing buildings “… under its control and will install radon 

meters in 50 percent of its building assets by the end of the 

2016-17 school year, with the remaining 50 percent of its 

building assets planned for completion by the end of the 2017-

18 school year.”  

I know we’ve covered some of this but, for the record, 

has the Department of Education completed work on testing 

building assets under its control?  

Ms. Arnold: The simple answer is that, yes, we have 

completed them. The safety of the students and staff are our 

first priority and we are monitoring radon levels. Monitoring 

— because there is a difference between monitoring and 

testing. We are monitoring radon levels in 100 percent of the 

buildings under our custody and control.  

Our commitment was to install, as you said, 50 percent 

one year and 50 percent the next. We felt it important that we 

did 100 percent of our schools for 2017. We took the 

monitoring results and they were sent away to a lab, and, as I 

indicated in my first remarks, we received the reports back.  

To be clear, we are looking at our schools in terms of the 

monitoring and the required remediation. If you have a school 

that has a monitoring level of less than 200 — and I’m going 

to do Bq/m
3
. I’m not sure about what all of the data is — I 

would say it’s parts per million. Under 200 is an acceptable 

level. Between 200 and 600, it requires remediation within 

two years. Above 600 requires remediation within one year. I 

would be happy to share here with the Committee what we put 

on our website because it has the explanations. We have the 

three schools, as I indicated, that are above 200: 

Nelnah Bessie John is 209, the Teen Parent Centre is 230, and 

Jack Hulland is 427. Jack Hulland had remediation done in 

2016, and we’re doing it again. Remediation has been — if 

I’m not mistaken — undertaken already at the school for the 

coming year.  

Mr. Adel: Understanding from your earlier remarks 

that the report on all of these things has been completed, is 

now available — and you will make sure that the Committee 

gets that.  

Ms. Arnold: Absolutely.  

Mr. Adel: That’s the end of my questions, Mr. Chair.  

Mr. Cathers: I also have some questions about radon 

testing. The Department of Health and Social Services, in 

their response to the Office of the Auditor General’s 

recommendation, said the department “… will arrange for 

radon testing to be done in the facilities for which it has 

custody and control.” However, the radon levels were also 

found to exceed Canadian guidelines in some private, licensed 

day homes and childcare centres. If I understood correctly 

from Ms. Doyle’s comments before, there is a work plan in 

place that is looking at options for exploring how to address 

this, in terms of licensed childcare centres and private day 

homes. Is that correct?  

Ms. Doyle: Yes, that is correct. The radon working 

group was established within the department to develop a plan 

to follow up with the childcare centres and the day homes that 

tested above the acceptable levels in the 2008 radon pilot. 

This was completed in terms of the fall of 2016. 

The radon working group also did a survey of all of the 

jurisdictions across the country to determine whether or not 

radon testing was a requirement of licensing for childcare 

facilities, so we now have that information that came back. 

We prepared an option paper to explore that, and we had some 

conversations with the minister and she has asked for more 

information. It is part of our work plan that we will have a 

decision on that by the fall of 2017. 

Mr. Cathers: What is the status of arrangements for 

radon testing at facilities that are actually owned by Health 

and Social Services? 

Ms. Doyle: Currently there are two series of testing that 

are happening. The Workers’ Compensation Health and 

Safety Board is re-testing Health and Social Services 

buildings that were tested above the acceptable level during 

the radon pilot of 2007-08. These include — previously it was 

the old Sarah Steele Building, which has now been 

demolished, but they are re-testing the new Sarah Steele 

facility. There is also No. 2 Hospital Road, the Mayo Health 

Centre, and two residential youth treatment facilities. 

The department has completed radon testing in all the 

remaining 24/7 facilities for which we have custody and 

control. A certified radon measurement professional was 

contracted to do this. Devices were collected and sent to the 

labs and we just received the results two days ago. 

Of the 12 facilities we tested, two of the group homes 

have one or two rooms that have tested slightly above the 200 

level. One room was in the facility and the other was in the 

basement. The process has already been initiated to request 

remediation within the required time frame, which is two 

years according to the Canadian guideline, and a work process 

has been initiated to Highways and Public Works to address 

that. 

The remaining Health and Social Services buildings will 

be tested in the order of identified priority. For example, we 

will test all our health centres in the winter of 2017-18. All 

other Health and Social Services buildings will be tested in 

follow-up cycles. 

Mr. Cathers: Just revising my questions based on what 

I’ve heard so far, I understand the work plan is in place for 

options for licensing childcare centres and that has been 

looked at. Perhaps I should take this opportunity just to note 

that we have a relatively new director of Family and 

Children’s Services. I think this is probably your first time in 

the Legislative Assembly, so welcome to where the magic 

happens — probably the first time it has ever been described 

as magic. 

Mr. Chair, has Health and Social Services taken any steps 

to date to manage radon found in privately licensed day homes 

and daycare centres, or is that type of working pending 

approval of the work plan and options contained within it? 

Ms. Doyle: Primarily, our work since 2008 has been 

around providing information. Letters have gone out to 

childcare centres, and FAQs and materials to discuss that with 

parents — as well as recommendations. Health and Social 
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Services was also part of a project with Yukon Housing 

Corporation — basically sending out materials to all facilities 

as well as homes. Over 1,250 free kits were sent out. We have 

been following up with childcare facilities around 

encouraging them to continue to test. 

Mr. Cathers: Is it a requirement currently for licensed 

facilities, particularly the day homes and daycares, to have 

radon testing done? If it is not currently a requirement, is that 

one of the options currently being considered? 

Ms. Doyle: It is not a requirement at this stage. They 

have to follow the law. They have to follow the occupational 

health and safety code, but at this point it is not a requirement 

as per licensing. We are exploring that at this point. 

Mr. Cathers: I understand that steps have been taken to 

date to communicate with childcare centres and family day 

homes about radon testing. Has the department communicated 

with all childcare centres and family day homes about radon 

and radon testing? 

Ms. Doyle: Yes, we communicated to all daycares as 

well as day homes in November and provided them with 

information about radon testing as well as talking about the 

free kits, and we gave them lots of information. There were 

also follow-up conversations at the recent workshop around 

childcare about radon. 

Mr. Cathers: Has Health and Social Services 

developed specific guidelines related to managing and testing 

for radon in privately owned childcare centres and day homes, 

or are you relying on other guidelines for the use of that — 

from national standards or federal guidelines in those areas? 

Ms. Doyle: We are following the guidelines of Health 

Canada, which is around the limits and also around the testing 

protocols. 

Mr. Cathers: I think the other questions have already 

been answered, so I will conclude and thank you for your 

answers. 

Mr. Adel: I have just a quick question. I was 

wondering — when you send the work orders off to HPW for 

remediation, who follows up on that? Two years is a long 

timeline to get it done and get lost in the shuffle. Is there a 

mechanism in place that keeps tracking that to make sure that 

it gets done? 

Ms. Doyle: That would be part of facility management. 

We have a manager of facility management within Health and 

Social Services, and it is part of her role to reach out to 

Highways and Public Works. There is a team. As 

Mr. McConnell noted, there is an electronic system. 

Ms. Hanson: I would just like to come back to the issue 

of the work that is being done — and I appreciate the fact that 

there has been the working group and some encouraging of 

the private day homes and private daycare centres with respect 

to the testing of radon. I would just ask the deputy: Are you 

familiar with the day home assessment checklist for health-

related concerns? 

Ms. Doyle: Yes. 

Ms. Hanson: So when I look at that, we have 72 items 

on that checklist that go from everything like the water supply 

meeting the health parameters of the guidelines for Canadian 

drinking water quality, to thumb tacks and staples are not used 

in infant-toddler play, to pest control, to food services and to 

play areas. It has the expectation that drains and plumbing 

fixtures meet national building codes. Why wouldn’t we 

simply put — in our daycare assessment checklist for health-

related concerns — a check saying that not only are we 

assured that there is ventilation and that radon testing has been 

completed? 

Ms. Doyle: That is one of the areas that we are 

considering. As part of our research to look at all the 

jurisdictions across Canada and how they are using their 

licencing, we have found that none of them have required 

radon testing. For Yukon to go forward, we would be the first 

and we would want to work very cooperatively with childcare 

centres around the testing as well as around potential 

remediation, because we know there are costs involved as 

well. 

Ms. Hanson: There is an occupational health and safety 

concern here for the staff of those daycares, as well as the 

children who are spending six to eight or more hours a day in 

a daycare, regardless of if it is a public or private daycare. It is 

a health issue whether or not it is done elsewhere in Canada. If 

we have documented evidence — if we expect that drains and 

plumbing fixtures meet national building codes, why wouldn’t 

we expect the daycares that we’re licensing and giving parents 

the expectation that they are safe — how do we have that 

understanding? How do we give that undertaking to parents 

that it is safe for their children to be there? 

Ms. Doyle: That will be part of the process that we will 

look at as we are going forward — around engagement with 

parents as well as childcare providers on any movement that 

we go forward. We understand that health and safety is of 

primary importance and we will want to very much make sure 

that what we can do is within the system of appropriate. We 

have been doing some research, and our next step is around 

kind of the impact of going forward in terms of consultation 

and eventually in terms of implementation. The decision has 

not been made yet. 

Ms. Hanson: I don’t take much confidence in the word 

“eventually”. Can you give the Committee a sense of whether 

there is a sense of urgency or a timeline for what course of 

action will be recommended with respect to ensuring the safe 

operation — the safety of children and workers in private day 

homes with respect to radon gas testing? 

Ms. Doyle: We see this as a very important issue and 

we expect that we will have a decision by fall 2017. 

Ms. Hanson: And reflected in regulations by when? 

Ms. Doyle: It will depend on the consultation process 

that’s involved. Again, it’s before the minister and we’ll have 

to take it to the government at that stage. 

Mr. Hutton: In paragraph 71, the Office of the Auditor 

General “… found that the Department of Education and the 

Department of Health and Social Services had considered the 

health and safety of building users as well as costs in their 

decisions about building maintenance projects.” This certainly 

sounds like good news and good work. How does Yukon 

compare to other jurisdictions across Canada? 
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Ms. Doyle: Yukon is comparable to other jurisdictions. 

I have worked in a number of other jurisdictions — very 

similar practices. 

Ms. Arnold: Having worked in both Ontario and 

British Columbia in the education systems in both provinces, I 

would find that we are consistent with what is out there in 

other jurisdictions in relation to education. 

Mr. Hassard: In paragraph 59 of the report, it says: 

“… the Department of Highways and Public Works had 

developed a process to prioritize building maintenance 

projects, and that this process included consideration of 

project costs and the health and safety of building users. 

However, the Department did not follow this process. As a 

result, about $6.6 million worth of projects completed in 

the 2015–16 fiscal year were not prioritized according to 

criteria such as health, safety, and costs.” 

The OAG recommended, in paragraph 72: “… the 

Department of Highways and Public Works should, in 

consultation with other departments, exercise its authority and 

follow its established project prioritization process, including 

prioritizing only projects that meet the definition of building 

maintenance.” 

The department’s response says: “The Department of 

Highways and Public Works will follow established 

prioritization processes where it has the authority and 

obligation for planning and implementing capital maintenance 

projects. The Department has commenced work to update 

Policy 2.8… in the General Administration Manual, which 

will clarify roles and responsibilities and better define 

program-specific equipment.” 

Can you tell us what prioritization process is being used 

to plan and implement capital maintenance projects, and is 

this planning and implementation on track for completion? 

Mr. McConnell: Each year we receive approximately 

500 project identification documents that are generated from 

Property Management division staff or clients in buildings. 

Property Management division follows an internal procedure 

for each identification document received and ultimately 

assigns each with a priority score.  

There are five scoring categories that are used to generate 

the final project priority score: health and safety, importance 

to client, feasibility, remaining service life, and positive 

impact. The Auditor General has highlighted that we did not 

always follow this process consistently. From our perspective, 

many of the projects that fell outside of the scoring process 

were still a high priority and, in some cases, emergency 

projects, as noted in paragraph 70. 

We also acknowledge that a few projects did not meet the 

criteria for building maintenance. Moving forward, we are 

committed to scoring 100 percent on our building 

maintenance projects. 

Chair: Even though the Auditor General talked about 

how, in 10 years, this hasn’t been happening, do you feel that 

policy 2.8 is being implemented properly now?  

Mr. McConnell: The General Administration Manual, 

2.8, has not been formally approved. That said, we have been 

working closely with client departments to have a better 

understanding with them in terms of roles and responsibilities 

and definitions around what is building maintenance versus a 

program cost. I believe that great progress has been made on 

that. We still need to have that policy advanced and formally 

approved.  

Chair: Do you have a timeline on when you feel that 

policy 2.8 will be formally approved?  

Mr. McConnell: What I can say is it is in the final 

approval phase within the Department of Highways and 

Public Works, at which time it will be advanced outside of the 

department for formal government approval. As discussed 

earlier, that would require both Management Board and 

Cabinet approvals.  

Mr. Gallina: Capital development planning process 

and overall condition of building portfolio — paragraph 78 of 

the report says: “As part of an annual planning exercise, the 

Department of Highways and Public Works is supposed to 

coordinate with program departments in preparing a list of 

proposed capital development projects for the Government of 

Yukon.”  

The OAG found that, while the process the Department of 

Highways and Public Works used to prioritize proposed 

capital development projects worked, the department did not 

have a well-defined process for working with program 

departments to identify those projects.  

In paragraph 83 of the report, it notes: “… the portfolio of 

the Department of Highways and Public Works has developed 

at a greater pace than has the Department’s ability to maintain 

it…”  

The report recommends in paragraph 86: “The 

Department of Highways and Public Works should verify the 

accuracy of the data it gathers in building condition 

assessments and use it, along with information from other 

reports, to identify buildings considered for capital 

development. It should use this information to develop a long-

term action plan to prioritize the replacement, consolidation, 

and demolition of government-owned buildings.”  

The department’s response says: “The Department of 

Highways and Public Works will integrate data that has been 

collected through building condition assessments into its long-

term capital planning process. The Department is currently 

working with the Department of Education and the 

Department of Health and Social Services on long-term 

capital plans. A comprehensive, portfolio-wide process for 

long-term building asset management planning, including the 

replacement, rehabilitation, consolidation, and demolition of 

government-owned buildings, will commence in the 2017-18 

fiscal year. This process will use building condition 

assessment data and other relevant analyses and assessments.”  

One of my questions is: When will the work on the 

comprehensive portfolio-wide process for long-term building 

asset management planning be completed? What are the steps 

that will be taken to complete this plan?  

Mr. McConnell: We’re currently working with the 

Department of Education on the first departmental long-term 

capital plan. As well, we are also developing a long-term 

capital asset planning framework to be used in planning going 
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forward. This work will be completed this summer. This fall, 

we plan to work with Health and Social Services on long-term 

capital planning, with other departments to follow after that.  

In terms of a review of this process, we intend to share 

the long-term capital plans and review with all departments 

before finalizing.  

Mr. Gallina: It was recommended that Highways and 

Public Works should verify the accuracy of the data it gathers 

in building condition assessments to identify buildings 

considered for capital development. Is this completed, and 

when will the department integrate the data it has been 

collecting? 

Mr. McConnell: As mentioned earlier, the verification 

of the data is ongoing and will be completed this fall. That 

information will be integrated into long-term capital planning 

as we move forward with our departments in the planning 

process. 

Ms. Hanson: I think that a couple of the questions may 

have been addressed. I just want to go back and ask the 

deputy: With reference to the work that will be completed this 

summer on the long-term asset planning, will that be posted 

on the website, or how will that be available to people? 

Mr. McConnell: As I explained, we’re working with 

the Department of Education at this point in time. We’re 

going to take lessons learned from that, as we develop the 

long-term capital asset planning framework. We’ll be 

reviewing that this summer. Then we will also be meeting 

with other departments to discuss our framework with them. 

Once we have completed a long-term capital plan and 

reviewed it with departments to ensure consistency across the 

portfolio, I would see absolutely no reason why we wouldn’t 

post that on the website, once that work is completed. 

Ms. Hanson: A framework of some sort will be 

completed this summer but, as I understand it, the long-term 

building asset management plan — although it will get to a 

certain stage this summer, what’s the target for completion of 

that? 

Mr. McConnell: Just for my reference, are we talking 

about the completion of the long-term capital plan or are we 

talking about completion of the framework? 

Ms. Hanson: The department said that you will be 

integrating into a long-term capital planning process. You just 

mentioned that you’re talking about a planning process and 

that some elements of that will be completed this summer, 

starting with the Department of Education. 

Mr. McConnell: We expect the work of the 

development of the long-term capital plan, as it relates to the 

Department of Education, to be completed this fall. At that 

time, we will continue on to work with the Department of 

Health and Social Services and systematically work our way 

through the departments. I expect that work will take us well 

into the next fiscal year. 

Ms. Hanson: I just want to confirm that the expected 

completion date for the collection of data and the 

implementation of your long-term building asset management 

planning will be next fiscal? 

Mr. McConnell: That is correct. 

Ms. Hanson: To confirm again that, once that is 

complete, that is a document that will be publicly available 

and evergreen? 

Mr. McConnell: I commit to making that an available 

document, and it will be critical that the plan is constantly 

kept up to date. 

Ms. Hanson: That’s fine; thank you, Mr. Chair. 

Mr. Adel: Regarding Shakwak funding, the report 

states that the loss of US funding could potentially lead to 

funds being reallocated, which could compromise the 

government’s ability to maintain or improve the condition of 

the whole road and the highway network. Is there any 

indication of how much longer the government can go on 

without more US funding? 

Mr. McConnell: We expect that there will be a very 

small amount of money remaining after this fiscal year. It will 

allow us to do some small projects in 2018-19. We don’t 

believe that this amount of money will be sufficient for 

significant permafrost restoration projects. 

Mr. Adel: When do you anticipate the remaining 

money from the US running out completely? 

Mr. McConnell: I expect that money to be completely 

expended within the next fiscal year. 

Mr. Adel: Did the government provide any update on 

the status of receiving more funds for this section of the road? 

Mr. McConnell: I am not aware of any commitment 

for additional funds for this section of the road. 

Mr. Adel: What level of funding on an ongoing annual 

basis would be required for acceptable levels of maintenance? 

Mr. McConnell: I would say that, currently within our 

existing budget allocations, we are doing some long-term 

planning for options to manage this section of road in the 

absence of funding coming from the US. There will be various 

options assessed and decisions made going forward. 

Mr. Adel: I have a couple of questions for the Auditor 

General. Did the Auditor General’s examination look at safety 

issues related to the degradation of the Shakwak? 

Mr. Ferguson: The Shakwak agreement — as we 

referred to it in the report and I think as you commented in 

your opening questions — what we were primarily bringing to 

the attention of the Committee was that the fact that the US 

government has decided to stop the funding of the project 

could compromise the department’s ability to do the work. 

The issue that we raised was a funding issue rather than a 

safety issue.  

I would also bring to your attention that, in paragraph 

106, we said that in 2009 there was an estimated cost to 

rehabilitate this section of highway that was approximately 

$237 million US. That would have been a number from 2009, 

so I don’t know what work has been done since or what that 

estimate would be now based on any work that has been done 

since.  

We didn’t look at the issue from a safety point of view; 

we just looked at it from the point of view that, if the 

department is going to have to deal with that issue on its own, 

it could have a significant impact on its ability to do all of the 
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work that it needs to do to maintain the whole road and 

highway network. 

Mr. Adel: Another question for you: Did the OAG 

examination look at potential impacts on the economy as a 

result of worse Shakwak conditions? 

Mr. Ferguson: No; again, the issue we looked at was 

the very narrow issue of the impact on the department’s 

budget. 

Mr. Adel: I have one more question for the HPW 

department. 

I was wondering if they could let me know what the 

annual maintenance costs on the Shakwak were before the 

funding was reduced. 

Mr. McConnell: I can tell you that recent budgets, 

starting in 2013-14, were close to $11 million and then 

progressing forward, going to $17.6, $10.2 million and 

$12 million in 2016-17. 

Mr. Cathers: In the Auditor General’s examination of 

the Department of Highways and Public Works’ management 

of bridges, it is relevant to note that not all Yukon government 

bridges in the territory are actually under the authority of 

Highways and Public Works. For example, there are a few 

that are managed and owned by the Department of 

Community Services, so my question for the Auditor General 

is: Did the audit look at how those bridges owned by 

Community Services were managed or was that outside the 

scope of the audit? 

Mr. Ferguson: Thank you, Mr. Chair. 

So that would have been outside the scope of the audit. 

Paragraph 8 in the report identifies the focus of our audit and 

the way that we conducted the audit was, yes, we were 

looking at the assessment, maintenance, repair and 

replacement of transportation infrastructure, which would 

include bridges, but we were looking at it from the point of 

view of the particular departments. So in this case, in terms of 

bridges, it just would have been Department of Highways and 

Public Works. The way we scoped the work was by looking at 

what the department was doing and again, related to bridges, 

what the department was doing for the bridges that it was 

managing. 

Mr. Cathers: Just to confirm then, is it correct to say 

that the Auditor General was aware that not all bridges were 

managed by the same department but simply didn’t look at 

those managed by Community Services because of the audit 

scope? 

Mr. Ferguson: I guess I can’t really say to what extent 

we were aware of other bridges. Again, when we’re planning 

these types of audits, what we are doing is trying to manage 

the scope. In this case, we already had three departments 

within the scope of the audit, and obviously the Department of 

Highways and Public Works was responsible for the vast 

majority of the buildings and the transportation infrastructure. 

We didn’t try to look beyond that to see what other 

organizations might be involved. What we were doing was 

focusing in on what the Department of Highways and Public 

Works was doing and, because that was bringing in some of 

the Education and Health and Social Services facilities, we 

had to scope those two departments in, but that’s what we 

restricted the scope of the audit to. 

Mr. Cathers: Thank you, Mr. Chair. That answers all 

the questions I had. I would just like to thank all the witnesses 

from the departments and the Office of the Auditor General, 

as well as the Auditor General himself, for your time here this 

morning and for the assistance of the Office of the Auditor 

General and Legislative Assembly staff in preparing for these 

hearings yesterday and today. 

Chair: Are there any other questions from any other 

Committee member? Thank you.  

Before I adjourn this hearing, I would like to make a few 

remarks on behalf of the Standing Committee on Public 

Accounts.  

First of all, I would like to thank all of the witnesses who 

appeared before the Public Accounts Committee today and 

yesterday. I would like to thank the officials from the Office 

of the Auditor General of Canada and of course the Clerk for 

their assistance. 

The purpose of the Public Accounts Committee is to help 

ensure accountability for the use of public funds. Public 

hearings are an important part of this work. The Committee’s 

report on these hearings will be tabled in the Legislative 

Assembly and we invite those who appeared before the 

Committee and other Yukoners to read the report and to 

communicate to the Committee their reaction to it. 

I would also like to add that today’s hearings do not 

necessarily signal the end of the Committee’s considerations 

of the issues raised in the Auditor General’s report. The 

Committee may follow up with the departments on 

implementation of the commitments made in response to the 

recommendations of the Auditor General and of the 

Committee itself. This could include a follow-up public 

hearing at some point in the future. So you may all be back 

here again. 

With that, I would like to again thank everyone who 

participated as well as all of those who helped organize this 

hearing and I now declare this hearing adjourned. 

 

The Committee adjourned at 11:51 a.m. 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Highways and Public Works 
Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
31. Follow-up to 2012 
Recommendation. 
Review Building and 
Equipment Maintenance 
Policy to clarify roles and 
responsibilities for funding 
and carrying out building 
inspections. 
 

Agreed. HPW Policy and 
Communications 

• Update Building and 
Equipment 
Maintenance Policy 
(GAM 2.8) 

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Approval of revised Building and 
Equipment Maintenance Policy (GAM 
2.8) 

32. Recommendation. 
Complete all planned building 
condition assessments, verify 
the data and then incorporate 
this information into building 
maintenance planning. Share 
the information with program 
departments. Decide how and 
when it will address high 
priority deficiencies identified 
in the assessments.  

Agreed. HPW will:  
• Verify all data  
• Follow a systematic 

process for identifying 
capital maintenance 
projects using assessment 
data 

• Share information with 
departments once data 
verification is complete 

• Carry out regular building 
condition assessments in 
blocks to update the 
portfolio every five years 

• Incorporate additional 
data including energy use 

RCAP  • Complete building 
assessments for 
buildings over 100 m2 
that have building 
systems 

September 
30, 2016 

Complete • Baseline building condition assessments 
complete 

• Information entered into VFA database 

RCAP  • Verify all existing data 
in building condition 
database 

• Develop a systematic 
process for identifying 
capital maintenance 
projects using building 
condition assessment 
data 

August 30, 
2017  
(for 2018-19 
budget cycle) 

On track • For 2018-19 budget a selection of high 
priority capital maintenance projects 
will be identified using VFA data 

RCAP  • Share data with all 
departments 

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Department clients will have access to 
VFA reports 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
and other specialized 
assessments 

RCAP  
 
 
 
 
 
  

• Incorporate energy use 
and other data into 
building condition 
database 

March 31, 
2019 

On track • VFA database will include building 
energy use data, seismic data, where 
available 

RCAP • Re-assess the entire 
building portfolio 

March 31, 
2022 

On track • All buildings re-assessed  
• Information for new buildings is added 

to VFA database as they are constructed 
38. Recommendation. 
Evaluate government 
buildings that are at risk of 
impacts from permafrost to 
determine the potential risk, 
damage, and repair or 
replacement cost. Develop an 
action plan for permafrost 
risks.  

Agreed. HPW will: 
• Consider the effects of 

thaw-sensitive permafrost 
degradation on buildings 
at risk 

• Consider the design, 
assessment, maintenance 
and remediation of those 
buildings that may be 
vulnerable 

• Include permafrost 
considerations in building 
design standards 

• Carry out screening-level 
structural assessments as 
part of regular building 
condition assessment 
process 

• Undertake repairs or 
remediation as required 

PMD Working 
Group 

• Include permafrost 
considerations in 
building design 
standards that are 
currently under 
development  

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Complete a comprehensive building 
standards manual that includes 
considerations to follow when building 
in permafrost zones 

• All building-related capital projects will 
follow the guidelines issued in the 
manual 

RCAP  • Carry out screening-
level structural 
assessments as part of 
the next building 
condition assessment 
process cycle 

March 31, 
2022 

On track • Next round of re-assessments includes 
permafrost screening  

Capital 
Development  
 

• Develop a monitoring 
and assessment plan for 
Yukon government 
buildings located on 
permafrost. 

September 
30, 2017 

On track • Long-term monitoring and remediation 
plan is in place 

• All buildings located on permafrost are 
monitored appropriately  
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Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
57. Recommendation. 
HPW, EDU and HSS should 
make it a priority to work with 
the appropriate organizations 
to develop a radon 
management, testing and 
remediation strategy for their 
buildings. 

Agreed. HPW, EDU and HSS 
will:  
• Work with appropriate 

organizations on a 
corporate radon 
management program that 
includes testing and 
remediation consistent 
with OH&S regulations and 
corporate health and 
safety management 
program. Will be 
completed in 2017-18.  

HPW Corporate 
Safety Advisor 

A Radon Guideline is being 
drafted by the Health, 
Safety Implementation Sub-
Committee of PSC. 
Highways and Public Works 
(HPW) has been 
participating in the 
development and review of 
the guideline. Currently 
awaiting completion and 
submission to the Health 
and Safety Leadership 
Committee for review and 
approval. The guideline 
includes requirements for 
testing and remediation 
that will be consistent with 
the requirements of the 
Yukon Occupation Health 
and Safety Act; Policy 3.48 
(Corporate Health and 
Safety) in the GAM; Health 
Canada Guide for Radon 
Measurements in Public 
Buildings; and the Canadian 
- National Radon Proficiency 
Program. The guideline is 
expected to be completed 
and in use in the Fall of 
2017.  
 

Fall 2017 On track • Radon Guideline approved and 
implemented 
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58. Recommendation. 
HPW, EDU and HSS should 
have detailed records of all 
radon testing that has been 
conducted in buildings they 
control. Records should 
include testing dates, exact 
locations, radon levels, 
remediation actions and 
whether employees were 
notified.  

Agreed. HPW, EDU and H&SS 
will:  
• Maintain detailed records 

of radon testing for 
consistent with OH&S 
regulations, GAM 3.48 and 
the Radon Guideline. 

HPW Corporate 
Safety Advisor 

• Testing is underway in 
buildings with HPW 
employees. Buildings 
that show elevated 
levels will receive 
additional testing 
and/or remediation.  

• Detailed records are 
being compiled in 
accordance with 
recommendation.  

• These are interim 
measures until the 
Radon Guideline is 
implemented. 

February 
2017, on-
going. 

On track • Highways and Public Works adheres 
to the Radon Guideline when it 
comes to radon monitoring and 
management, including loading 
results into the Parklane System 

• Highways and Public Works carries 
out remediation activities in 
government buildings consistent 
with Radon Guideline. 

72. Recommendation. 
To ensure that funding goes to 
the highest priority projects 
HPW should, in consultation 
with departments, exercise its 
authority and follow 
established project 
prioritization processes, 
including prioritizing only 
those projects that meet the 
definition of building 
maintenance.  

Agreed. HPW will:  
• Follow established 

processes where it has the 
authority and obligation 
for planning and 
implementing capital 
maintenance projects 

• Update Building and 
Equipment Maintenance 
Policy to clarify building 
maintenance vs. program 
specific equipment 

HPW Policy • Update Building and 
Equipment 
Maintenance Policy 
(GAM 2.8) 

See above See above See above 

RCAP • All capital maintenance 
projects will be scored, 
prioritized and 
consistent with the 
Building and Equipment 
Maintenance Policy 

Ongoing  On track • 100% of capital maintenance projects 
completed each year are scored and 
prioritized 

HPW Policy • Carry out a systemic 
design process for 
capital maintenance 
with client departments 
with external consultant 

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Workshop completed Feb. 2017 
• All action items arising from the 

workshop completed  
• Capital maintenance process is more 

efficient and client focused 
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86. Recommendation. 
Verify building condition 
assessment data and use it, 
along with other information, 
to identify buildings for capital 
development. It should use 
this information to develop a 
long-term action plan to 
prioritize the replacement, 
consolidation and demolition 
of government owned 
buildings.  

Agreed. HPW will:  
• Integrate assessment data 

into its long term capital 
planning process 

• Work with HSS and EDU on 
long-term capital plans 

• In 2017-18 begin a 
comprehensive, portfolio-
wide process for long term 
asset management 
planning including the 
replacement, 
rehabilitation, 
consolidation and 
demolition of YG buildings 
using VFA data.  

RCAP  • Complete long term 
capital plans for HSS 
and EDU 

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Standard process, template for 
completing long-term capital plans 
developed 

• Multi-year capital plan completed for 
Education and Health and Social 
Services 

• Highest priority buildings are identified 
based on condition assessment data 

RCAP  • Complete a portfolio-
wide long term capital 
plan based on building 
condition assessments 
and other data 

March 31, 
2018 

On track • Multi-year capital plan completed for 
the entire building portfolio 

• Highest priority buildings are identified 
based on condition assessment data 
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Health and Social Services 
Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
57. Recommendation. 
The Department of Highways 
and Public Works, the 
Department of Education, and 
the Department of Health and 
Social Services should make it 
a priority to work with the 
appropriate organizations to 
develop a strategy for 
managing the effects of radon 
in their buildings, including 
radon testing and remediation. 

Agreed. The Department of 
Highways and Public Works, 
the Department of Education, 
and the Department of Health 
and Social Services will work 
with the appropriate 
organizations on a corporate 
radon management policy. This 
policy will include testing and 
remediation that are consistent 
with the requirements of 
Yukon’s Occupational Health 
and Safety Act and further 
defined under Policy 3.48 
(Corporate Health and Safety) 
in the General Administration 
Manual. The corporate radon 
management policy will be 
complete in the 2017–18 fiscal 
year. 
 
The Department of Health and 
Social Services will arrange for 
radon testing to be done in the 
facilities for which it has 
custody and control. 
 

Corporate 
Planning  
and Risk 
Management 
with: Finance 
and Facility 
Management 

A Radon Guideline is being 
drafted by the Health, 
Safety Implementation Sub-
Committee of PSC. Health 
and Social Services (HSS) has 
been participating in the 
development and review of 
the guideline. Currently 
awaiting completion and 
submission to the Health 
and Safety Leadership 
Committee for review and 
approval. The guideline 
includes requirements for 
testing and remediation 
that will be consistent with 
the requirements of the 
Yukon Occupation Health 
and Safety Act; Policy 3.48 
(Corporate Health and 
Safety) in the GAM; Health 
Canada Guide for Radon 
Measurements in Public 
Buildings; and the Canadian 
- National Radon Proficiency 
Program. The guideline is 
expected to be completed 
and in use in the Fall of 
2017.  
  

Fall 2017 
 

On Track • Radon Guideline to be completed and 
implemented within HSS 
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YWCHSB is re-testing HSS 
buildings that tested above 
the acceptable level during 
the Radon Pilot Project in 
2007/08. These include the 
new Sarah Steele facility; #2 
Hospital Road; the Mayo 
Health Centre; and two 
Residential Youth Treatment 
Facilities. 
 

Feb.-July 
2017 
 

On Track • YWCHSB test results will be received and 
uploaded to the Parklane system 

The Department of HSS has 
completed radon testing in 
all 24/7 facilities for which it 
has custody and control. A 
certified radon 
measurement professional 
was contracted to do the 
testing. Testing devices have 
been collected and results 
have been sent to the lab. 
Results expected by the end 
of July, 2017. 
 

Feb.-July 
2017 
 

On Track • 24/7 facilities’ test results will be 
received and uploaded to Parklane 
system 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
Remaining HSS buildings will 
be tested in order of 
identified priorities (i.e. all 
health centres are expected 
to undergo radon testing in 
Winter 2017/18; all other 
HSS buildings to be tested in 
subsequent testing cycles). 
 

2017-2020 On Track • Buildings that exceed acceptable radon 
levels will be referred to HPW for 
remediation/re-testing as necessary 

• Will be in receipt of HPW reports of 
remediation and retesting (with 
acceptable results), and results will be 
uploaded to Parklane system 

• All remaining HSS buildings under the 
custody and control of HSS will be tested 
for radon, referred to HPW for 
remediation/re-testing as necessary 

•  
58. Recommendation.  
The Department of Highways 
and Public Works, the 
Department of Education, and 
the Department of Health and 
Social Services should have 
detailed records of all radon 
testing that has been 
conducted in the buildings 
under their custody and 
control. The records should 
include items such as testing 
dates and exact locations, 
radon levels, remediation 
actions, and whether 
employees have been notified 
of testing results. 

Agreed. The Department of 
Highways and Public Works, 
the Department of Education, 
and the Department of Health 
and Social Services will 
maintain detailed records of 
radon testing for buildings 
under their respective custody 
and control, consistent with 
the requirements of Yukon’s 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Act, as further defined under 
Policy 3.48 (Corporate Health 
and Safety) in the General 
Administration Manual, and in 
accordance with the pending 
corporate radon management 

Corporate 
Planning  
and Risk 
Management 
with: Finance 
and Facility 
Management 

All records of radon testing 
conducted in buildings 
under the custody and 
control of HSS will be 
uploaded to the Parklane 
system (Corporate Health 
and Safety), consistent with 
the requirements of the 
Radon Guideline (currently 
under development).  
 

July 2017, 
ongoing 
 

On Track • All radon test results to be uploaded to 
Parklane system 

 

Communicate to HSS 
employees re: testing 
intention, results, mitigation 
actions and follow-up 
testing results. 

July 2017, 
ongoing 
 

Complete • Communication to all HSS employees 
about testing in 24/7 facilities in Spring 
2017 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
policy. In the interim, the 
departments will ensure that 
they maintain records within 
appropriate databases for their 
respective buildings. 
 

On Track • Communication to HSS employees will be 
sent re: testing results, mitigation actions 
and follow-up testing results, as they 
occur 

55 & 56. In our opinion, 
because the Department is 
responsible 
through its licensing and 
inspection powers for 
addressing health and safety 
issues, it should have taken 
steps such as informing all 
facility operators of the radon 
issue and following up to 
determine what steps they had 
taken to address it. We found, 
however, that the Department 
had not taken any action to 
directly address this issue. 
Because of the serious nature 
of our findings in this area, we 
sent a letter to the Deputy 
Minister of Health and Social 

The Department responded 
that it required operators of 
child care centres and family 
day homes to comply with 
relevant legislation. It also said 
that it would undertake further 
action to address this issue in 
an effort to ensure that child 
care centres and family day 
homes were safe 
environments. 
 

Corporate 
Planning  
and Risk 
Management 
with: Family 
and Children’s 
Services; 
Environmental 
Health; Office 
of the Chief 
Medical 
Officer of 
Health; 
Comm-
unications 

Letters sent to all licensed 
Yukon child care centres 
and day homes to raise 
awareness about the 
importance of radon testing 
and mitigation, encouraging 
them to test (and 
mitigate/retest if 
necessary). Resources for 
testing, access to a list of 
certified radon 
professionals, and samples 
of parent communication 
provided. 

November, 
2016 
 

Complete • Some day homes and child care centres 
voluntarily tested Winter/17, and have 
been providing results to Child Care 
Services Unit. One centre tested above 
the acceptable level and is working with 
the Child Care Services Unit to determine 
next steps 

FAQ re: Health Effects of 
radon in child care centres 
developed and distributed 
at June Yukon Child Care 
Conference. 

June 2017 Complete • FAQ developed and distributed 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
Services in July 2016, outlining 
our concerns. 

Radon Working Group 
established to develop a 
plan to follow-up with the 
child care centres and day 
homes that tested above 
acceptable levels in the 
2008 Radon Pilot Project, 
and potential testing 
requirements for new (and 
existing) licensees. 

November 
2016, 
ongoing 
 

Complete • Follow-up with the child care centres and 
day homes that tested above acceptable 
levels in the 2008 pilot project 
completed. One dayhome had completed 
remediation 

• YWCHSB has retested the child care 
centres and day homes that tested above 
acceptable levels in the 2008 pilot 
project (except for the one that 
remediated). They will provide results to 
operators and the Department when 
they are available (June/July), and have 
informed us that they will follow-through 
with those facilities that are above 
acceptable levels 

Radon Options Paper for 
Deputy Minister, and 
Information Note for 
Minister, completed. 
Awaiting direction 

March - May 
2017 

On Track • Radon Options Paper and Information 
Note for Minister -direction to be 
received and followed 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Education 
Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
57. Recommendation. 
The Department of Highways 
and Public Works, the 
Department of Education, and 
the Department of Health and 
Social Services should make it 
a priority to work with the 
appropriate organizations to 
develop a strategy for 
managing the effects of radon 
in their buildings, including 
radon testing and remediation. 

Agreed. The Department of 
Highways and Public Works, 
the Department of Education, 
and the Department of Health 
and Social Services will work 
with the appropriate 
organizations on a corporate 
radon management policy. This 
policy will include testing and 
remediation that are consistent 
with the requirements of 
Yukon’s Occupational Health 
and Safety Act and further 
defined under Policy 3.48 
(Corporate Health and Safety) 
in the General Administration 
Manual. The corporate radon 
management policy will be 
complete in the 2017–18 fiscal 
year. 
 
The Department of Education 
has begun work on testing 
building assets under its 
control and will install radon 
meters in 50 percent of its 
building assets by the end of 
the 2016-17 school year, with 
the remaining 50 percent of its 

Facilities and 
Operations 
with: Finance 
 

A Radon Guideline is being 
drafted by the Health, 
Safety Implementation Sub-
Committee of PSC. 
Education (EDU) has been 
participating in the 
development and review of 
the guideline. Currently 
awaiting completion and 
submission to the Health 
and Safety Leadership 
Committee for review and 
approval. The guideline 
includes requirements for 
testing and remediation 
that will be consistent with 
the requirements of the 
Yukon Occupation Health 
and Safety Act; Policy 3.48 
(Corporate Health and 
Safety) in the GAM; Health 
Canada Guide for Radon 
Measurements in Public 
Buildings; and the Canadian 
- National Radon Proficiency 
Program. The guideline is 
expected to be completed 
and in use in the Fall of 
2017.   

Fall 2017 
 

On Track • Radon Guideline to be completed and 
implemented within EDU 

• Monitoring results will be received and 
uploaded to the Parklane system. Results 
will also be available on the Department 
of Education website. 
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Legend Complete In progress/On track Delayed/On Hold 
 

Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
building assets planned for 
completion by the end of the 
2017-18 school year.  

A first round of radon 
monitoring was conducted 
in 100 percent of 
Department of Education 
buildings. In the last week of 
school, letters will be sent 
to school communities (this 
includes staff, families of 
students, School Councils, 
and where applicable, First 
Nations) announcing that 
radon monitoring results are 
now available on the 
Department of Education 
website. 

September 
2016 – June 
2017 
 

On Track • EDU will communicate findings of 2016-
17 monitoring results with school 
communities. 

• Buildings that exceed acceptable radon 
levels have been referred to HPW for 
remediation/re-testing as necessary 

• As per the Government of Yukon Radon 
Testing Guideline, buildings under the 
custody and control of EDU will be tested 
for radon, and referred to HPW for 
remediation/re-testing as necessary 

Radon remediation work 
will be completed in three 
buildings over summer 
2017. These requests were 
made as a precaution 
before long-term 
monitoring results were 
known. A request for radon 
mitigation was made for a 
fourth building, but long-
term monitoring results 
indicate radon levels are 
within the acceptable range 
in that building.  

December 
2016 - 
September 
2017 
 

On Track • HPW provides remediation reports and 
follow-up testing schedules to the 
Department of Education. 

• Conduct follow-up testing which meets 
Health Canada Guidelines, and perform 
additional remediation if necessary. 
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Recommendation Department Response Lead Actions Timing Status Success Measures 
58. Recommendation.  
The Department of Highways 
and Public Works, the 
Department of Education, and 
the Department of Health and 
Social Services should have 
detailed records of all radon 
testing that has been 
conducted in the buildings 
under their custody and 
control. The records should 
include items such as testing 
dates and exact locations, 
radon levels, remediation 
actions, and whether 
employees have been notified 
of testing results. 

Agreed. The Department of 
Highways and Public Works, 
the Department of Education, 
and the Department of Health 
and Social Services will 
maintain detailed records of 
radon testing for buildings 
under their respective custody 
and control, consistent with 
the requirements of Yukon’s 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Act, as further defined under 
Policy 3.48 (Corporate Health 
and Safety) in the General 
Administration Manual, and in 
accordance with the pending 
corporate radon management 
policy. In the interim, the 
departments will ensure that 
they maintain records within 
appropriate databases for their 
respective buildings. 

Facilities and 
Operations 

All records of radon 
monitoring and testing 
conducted in buildings 
under the custody and 
control of EDU will be 
uploaded to the Parklane 
system (Corporate Health 
and Safety), consistent with 
the requirements of the 
Radon Guideline (currently 
under development).  

July 2017, 
ongoing 
 

On Track • All building radon monitoring results and 
exact locations and dates (in and out) of 
devices to be uploaded to Parklane 
system  

Staff will be directly notified 
of winter 2016-17 radon 
monitoring results. 
Additionally, results from 
monitoring as well as future 
monitoring and testing will 
be posted online and 
publicly available. Letters 
will be sent to school 
communities to indicate 
where the information is 
located. 

June 20 
2017, 
ongoing 

On Track • Communications to Education school 
communities will be sent re: testing 
results, remediation actions and follow-
up testing results, as they occur 

 



School  Device location Install Date Actuall Removal Da  Long Term Results
Eliza Van Bibber Office Ceiling 23-Jan 28-Apr 64 Bq
J.V. Clark Office Ceiling 24-Jan 5-May 18 Bq
Robert Service Office Ceiling 25-Jan 14 Bq
Robert Service Portable- Ms. Lozancic 25-Jan 23 Bq
Ghuch Tla Community Office by Trophies 10-Jan 12-Apr 44 Bq
Teslin Staffroom office above cupboard 10-Jan 12-Apr 48 Bq
Johnson Elementary Room #7 11-Jan 13-Apr 45 Bq

Office 11-Jan 13-Apr 15 Bq
Watson Lake Office 11-Jan 13-Apr 24 Bq
Tantalus Office Ceiling 17-Jan 10-May 11 Bq
Ross River Kindergarden room 7-Dec 8-Mar 87 Bq

Computer Lab 7-Dec 8-Mar 88 Bq
office reception area 7-Dec 8-Mar 82 Bq

Del Van Gorder office reception area 7-Dec 8-Mar 91 Bq
outdoor storage room (indoors) 7-Dec 8-Mar 41 Bq
shop 7-Dec 8-Mar 50 Bq 

St. Elias Community Library 28-Sep-16 8-Mar 74 Bq
Art Room 28-Sep-16 8-Mar 34 Bq
Office  28-Sep-16 8-Mar 80 Bq

Kluane Lake Downstairs 22-Sep-16 9-May 62 Bq
Upstairs 22-Sep-16 9-May 40 Bq

Nelnah Bessie John upstairs 22-Sep-16 9-May 179 Bq
downstairs 22-Sep-16 9-May 209 Bq

Chief Zzeh Gittlit Office 8-Mar Still in the school 6 Bq 

School  Device location & number Install Date Actuall Removal Da  Long Term Results
Christ the King 3417089- office file cabinet

3417111- room 115- wall by projector
3417110- room 119 Dwayne Hancom 16-Feb 16-May

Office - 81 Bq
Room 115 - 74 Bq

Room 119- 148 Bq
Ecole Emilie Tremblay 3417086- office top of cabinet

3417085 - class 334 wall mount
3417087 - class 401 wall mount above teacher 
desk 16-Feb 16-May

Office - 59 Bq
Class 334 - 56 Bq
Class 401 - 37 Bq

Elijah Smith ST-021 Office Hall 25-Jan 9-May 27 Bq
FH Collins 3417105 - room 122 corner cabinet

3417103 - room 116 corner cabinet
3417102 - room 106 - above fridge
3417118 - office - first shelving unit behind 
reception 

15-Feb-17 15-May

room 122 - 22 Bq
room 116 - 33 Bq
room 106 - 30 Bq

office - 33 Bq 
Gadzoosdaa Residence 3417109- Caffeteria- above shelf by computers

3417108- office on computer
BOYS
3417091- room 11
093- room 10
076-room 6
125- room 7
116-Room 8
095-room 9
094- room 1
090- room2
092- room 3
088- room 4
099- room 5
GIRLS
3417077- room 11
078- room 10
113- room 9
112- Room 8
080- room 7
079- room 6
084- room 1
101- room 2
081- room 3
082- room 4 16-Feb 16-May

Caferteria - 22 Bq
First Floor Office - 15 Bq

Boys Room 11 - 18 Bq
Boys Room 10 - 26 Bq

Boys Room 6 - 33 Bq
Boys Room 2 - 22 Bq
Boys room 4 - 26 Bq
Boys room 5 - 37 Bq

Girls room 11 - 18 Bq 
Girls room 10 - 22 Bq

Girls room 9 - 26 Bq
Girls room 8 - 22 Bq
Girls room 7 - 18 Bq
Girls room 6 - 30 Bq
Girls room 5 - 18 Bq
Girls room 4 - 22 Bq
Girls room 3 - 22 Bq
Girls room 2 - 30 Bq
Girls room 1 - 26 Bq

Golden Horn
LT-028 - Office
#1. grade 4/5 above cupboard
#25. Kindergarden-Mc Quatron above cupboard

LT
FEB 15
#1.& 25. 
March 3

LT-028- May 11
#1 & #25 June 3

Office - 71 Bq
#1 grd 4/5 - 11 Bq

Kinder/Quatron - 11 Bq
Grey Mountain 3417098- office - molly

3417096 - mr. stevens -room 2 centre 
whitehboard
3417097 - Mrs. Class- on heat unit above sink 
area 16-Feb 16-May

Office - Molly - 89 Bq
Room 2 - 78 Bq

Mrs. Class -Classroom - 104 Bq
Hidden Valley LT-029 - office 1-Feb 5-May 43 Bq
Holy Family ST-016 Library Office

18. Main office
20. Class 8
17. class 6

ST:
Jan 16
18-20-17:
Dec 19

ST - April 20
Cont. Monitors 18-20
March 20

Main office - 111 Bq
Classroom 8 - 168 Bq
Classroom 6 - 175 Bq

Library office - 127 Bq
ILC 3417114- main learning area ceiling

3417100- Office entry- ceiling 16-Feb 20-May
main learning- 37 Bq

Office Entry - 44 Bq
Jack Hulland (e-perm) ST-026 - K.Johnson

ST-001 - Room 19
ST-006 - Room 17
ST-017 - Room 8
ST-029 - Office plant 1-Feb 11-May

K. Johnson - 25 Bq
Room 19 - 255 Bq
Room 17 - 306 Bq

Room 8 - 174 Bq
Office - 87 Bq

Jack Hulland Continuous Monitoring with:
3. Room 17
9. Room 27
16. Room 22 - learning assistance

Sept 22, 2016 11-May-17

Room 22-300 Bq
Room 17 - 427 Bq
Room 27 - 352 Bq 

Porter Creek
3417122- room 109 shelf behind teacher desk
3417117 - music room on top file cabinets
3417124- office
3417104- Letang sewing room
3417121- room 145 top of cabinet 15-Feb 16-May

 office - 18 Bq
Sewing room - 37 Bq

Room 109 - 48 Bq
Music Room - 41 Bq

Room 145 - 37 Bq
Selkirk

21. Class 12 - Mme. Boiteau (whiteboard)
LT-015- mme trudel-room 1
3417123- ms. Dennis-class 16
3417115- Learning together room- top of 
cabinet

#21. class 12
Dec 20
capsules
Feb 15 16-May

LT-015 - 39 Bq
Class 12 - 24 Bq
Class 16 - 18 Bq

Learning Together - 30 Bq

Takhini 3417120 - Office
3417119 - Room 4 13-Feb 16-May

Office - 33 Bq
Room 4 - 52 Bq

Vanier 22. office (above security panel)
23. class 5 (Tanis Giezi - whiteboard) 20-Dec 9-May

Office - 60 Bq
Class 5 - 69 Bq

Whitehorse Elementary LT-034 - office
LT-014 - Room 112 23-Jan 9-May

Office - 77 Bq
Room 112 - Duval - 71 Bq

Teen Parent Centre 19. continuous monitor 19-Dec 9-May 230 Bq
Wood Street Centre 3417107-front office cabinet

3417106- hallway class behind teacher 
desk/cabinet 16-Feb 16-May

Front Office - 33 Bq
Hallway Class - 81 Bq

Dept. of Ed. Building Center of building 
North End Feb 1 June 1

Center- 15 Bq
North End 11 Bq 

Schools In Communities

Schools In Whitehorse











Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

In column AA, we attributed a value of 1 if the building was on permafrost AND a Yukon government building.
In column AB, we attributed a value of 1 if the building was impacted by permafrost AND a Yukon government building.

YG and TT Comments

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

OWNED 2540
RSS Portable 
Classroom 0

5th Avenue & 
Turner Street Dawson City SCHOOL 1 0 No longer here

1 1 0

OWNED 2541
Robert Service 
School (RSS) 0

909 - 5th 
Avenue Dawson City SCHOOL 1 1

Subsidence 
adjacent to school

1 1 1

OWNED 2542 KIAC Art School 2

3rd Avenue 
& Queen 
Street Dawson City EDUCAT 1 1

1 1 1

OWNED 2544
Airport Dawson 
City 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City AIRPORT 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2554 PMA Office 0
396 5th 
Avenue Dawson City OFFICE 0 0 1 0 0 near Minto Park

OWNED 2561
Old Territorial 
Admin Bld 0 5th Avenue Dawson City OFFICE 0 1

Subsidence 
adjacent to north 
end of building

1 0 1

OWNED 2562
Alexander 
McDonald Lodge 1

5th Avenue & 
Church 
Street Dawson City

HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 2575
Wildlife Office 
Wrhse/Wrksh 0

Callison 
Subdivision Dawson City MIXED USE 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 2576
Visitor Information 
Centre 0 Front Avenue Dawson City

VISITOR 
RECEPTION 
CENTRE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 2577 Ladue Sawmill 0 Dawson City UNKNOWN 1 0
1 1 0

not occupied, exterior 
inspection only

OWNED 2578 Storage Shed - VIC 0

Visitor 
Information 
Centre Dawson City

STORAGE - 
1 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 2587
Ferry Storage 
Warehouse 0 Dawson City STORAGE 1 0 Not found 1 1 0

OWNED 2590
Building 
Maintenance Shop 0

5th Avenue & 
Turner Street Dawson City WORKSHOP 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2591
Generator Storage 
Shed 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2592
Klondike Valley 
Firehall 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City FIREHALL 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2593
Customs Office / 
Trailer 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City

FEDERAL 
BUILDING 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2594
Storage Shed 
Renewable 0

Callison 
Industrial 
Subdivision Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2595 Ambulance Garage 0

5th Avenue & 
Church 
Street Dawson City

SPECIAL 
PURPOSE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 2596
Storage Shed 
10x12 0

396 5th 
Avenue Dawson City STORAGE 0 0 Not found 1 0 0

OWNED 2597
Storage Shed 
16x16 0

396 5th 
Avenue Dawson City STORAGE 0 0 Not found 1 0 0

OWNED 2599 Grader Station 0 Dawson City
GRADER 
STATION 0 0 1 0 0
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Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

OWNED 2610
Dawson City Air 
Tanker Base 1

Lot 1019; 
Quad 
116B/3; Plan 
75824 Dawson City AIRPORT 1 0

1 1 0
foundation subcut to remove 
permafrost

OWNED 2611
Dawson Initial 
Attack Base 0 Dawson City AIRPORT 1 0

1 1 0
foundation subcut to remove 
permafrost

OWNED 2613 Old POL Storage 0 Dawson City Dawson City STORAGE 0 0
1 0 0

need better location 
description

OWNED 2614

Cold 
Storage/Propane 
Shed 0 Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0
need better location 
description

OWNED 2615 New POL Shed 0 Dawson City STORAGE 0 0
1 0 0

need better location 
description

OWNED 2616 Storage Shed 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2617 Storage Shed 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2618 Workshop/Garage 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City WORKSHOP 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2619 Storage Shed 0

Lot 1019; 
Quad 
116B/3; Plan 
75824 Dawson City STORAGE 0

1 0 0 assumed to be at airport

OWNED 2620
Cold Storage 
Dawson 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2622
Air Tanker Base 
Garage 0

Lot 1019; 
Quad 
116B/3; Plan 
75824 Dawson City GARAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2630 Storage Shed 0

Lookout 
Tower Site-
2nd Dome Dawson City

STORAGE - 
1 1 0

1 1 0 probably on bedrock

OWNED 2631 Lookout Cabin 0

Lookout 
Tower Site-
2nd Dome Dawson City LOOKOUT 1 0

1 1 0
seasonal use, confirm 
permafrost

OWNED 2632 Fire Lookout Tower 0

Lookout 
Tower Site-
2nd Dome Dawson City LOOKOUT 1 0

1 1 0
seasonal use, confirm 
permafrost

OWNED 2633 Repeater Station 0

500 Metres 
NW of Tower 
site Dawson City UNKNOWN 1 0

500 m northwest 
of this site

1 1 0
seasonal use, confirm 
permafrost

OWNED 2634 POL Shed 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2635 POL Shed 0

KM 694 
Klondike 
Highway Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2636 PMA Warehouse 0
5th Avenue & 
Turner Street Dawson City STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 2936
Red Feather 
Saloon 0

3rd Avenue 
& Princess 
Street Dawson City

SPECIAL 
PURPOSE 1 0

1 1 0
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Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

0 0

OWNED 5611 Elsa School 0

KM 97 Silver 
Trail 
Highway Elsa SCHOOL 0 0

1 0 0
unoccupied, exterior 
inspection only ‐ confirm if 
Permafrost?

OWNED 5613 Curling Rink 0

KM 97 Silver 
Trail 
Highway Elsa RECREATION 0 0

1 0 0
unoccupied, exterior 
inspection only ‐ confirm if 
Permafrost?

0 0

OWNED 5622
Multi‐Purpose 
Garage 0

KM 110 
Silver Trail 
Highway Keno GARAGE 0 0

1 0 0 near Keno City museum

0 0

OWNED 5624 New School 0

Lot 12; 
Remainder 
Block 40 Mayo SCHOOL 1 1

East end of 
building 10 cm 
subsidence

1 1 1

OWNED 5629 Grader Station 1 1st Avenue Mayo
GRADER 
STATION 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 5630
Warehouse & 
Garage 0 1st Avenue Mayo GARAGE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 5631 District Office 0 Mayo OFFICE 1 0
1 1 0

OWNED 5632
Garage and 
Warehouse 0 Mayo Mayo GARAGE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 5633 POL Shed 0 Mayo STORAGE ‐ 1 1 0
1 1 0

OWNED 5634 Storage Shed 0 Mayo Mayo STORAGE ‐ 1 1 0
possibly same as 

above
1 1 0

OWNED 5635
Air Tanker 
Base/Storage Shed 0

Lot 1068; 
Quad 
105NN12 Mayo AIRPORT 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5636 Day Use Building 0 Airport Mayo UNKNOWN 0 0

Approximate 
location

1 0 0

OWNED 5637 Crew Trailer 0 Airport Mayo UNKNOWN 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 5638 POL Shed 0 Airport Mayo STORAGE 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 5639 POL Shed 0 Airport Mayo STORAGE 0 0 1 0 0
OWNED 5640 Bldg Mntce Shop 1 1st Avenue Mayo WORKSHOP 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 5648
Administration 
Building 0

Centre 
Street Mayo OFFICE 1 1

Subsidence and 
cracking 1 1 1

OWNED 5650
Warehouse and 
Workshop 0

Near Keno 
Road Mayo WORKSHOP 1

Not Located 1 1 0 confirm location

OWNED 5652
Cold Storage 
Warehouse 0 KM 53.4 Mayo STORAGE 0 0

Assumed location 1 0 0 near airport?

OWNED 5653 Airport Terminal 0 Airport Mayo AIRPORT 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 5654
Generator Storage 
Shed 0 Airport Mayo STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5655
Cold Storage 
Building 0 Airport Mayo STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5656
Cabin on Hanson 
Lake Island 0 Hanson Lake Mayo RESIDENTIAL 0 0

1 0 0 confirm location and use

OWNED 5657 Air Tanker Base 0 Mayo AIRPORT 0 0 1 0 0

OWNED 5658 Initial Attack Base 0 Mayo AIRPORT 1 0
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Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

OWNED 5663
Mining Recorder's 
Office 0 Mayo OFFICE 1 0 1 1 0

OWNED 5668 Mt Haldane Tower 0 Mayo LOOKOUT 0
Not visited 1 0 0 probably on bedrock

OWNED 5669 Ferry Hill Tower 0 Mayo LOOKOUT 0
Approximate 
Location

1 0 0

OWNED 5983 Nursing Station 1 Mayo
HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 1

Severe cracking 
and settlement

1 1 1

OWNED 5694
Fire Management 
Office Trailer 0

Lot 2, Block 
43 Mayo OFFICE 1 0

1 1 0

0 0

OWNED 3100
Nelnah Bessie John 
School (NBJS) 2 Beaver Creek SCHOOL 0 0

1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3121
Visitor Information 
Centre 0 Beaver Creek

VISITOR 
RECEPTION 
CENTRE 0 0

1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3122 Swimming Pool 0 Beaver Creek RECREATION 0 0 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3123 Grader Station 0 Beaver Creek
GRADER 
STATION 0 0 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3125 Airport Terminal 1 Beaver Creek AIRPORT 0 0
1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3130 POL Shed 0 Beaver Creek STORAGE 0 Not visited 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3131
Cold Storage 
Building 0 Beaver Creek STORAGE 0

Not visited 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3133 Storage Garage 0
Beaver 
Creek Beaver Creek STORAGE 0

Not visited 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3136 POL Shed 0 Beaver Creek STORAGE 0
Duplicate? 1 0 0 permafrost thawed

OWNED 3964 Health Centre 1
Lot 1013; 
Quad 115 K Beaver Creek

HEALTH 
CENTRE 0

1 0 0

0 0

OWNED 3171 Kluane Lake School 0

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay SCHOOL 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 3172 Firehall 0

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay FIREHALL 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 3184 Storage Shed 0

Km 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay STORAGE 1

1 1 0

OWNED 3185 POL Storage 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay STORAGE 1

1 1 0

OWNED 3186 Grader Station 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay

GRADER 
STATION 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 3187 Warehouse 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay STORAGE 1

1 1 0

OWNED 3191 Residence 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay COMPOUND 1

1 1 0
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Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

OWNED 3957 Health Centre 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay

HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 0

1 1 0

OWNED 3959 Garage 1

KM 1743 
Alaska 
Highway

Destruction 
Bay GARAGE 1 0

1 1 0

0 0

OWNED 3201 Airport Terminal 0
Burwash 
Landing AIRPORT 1 0

1 1 0
permafrost may have thawed 
at airport

OWNED 3202 Generator Storage 0
Burwash 
Landing STORAGE 1 0 1 1 0

OWNED 3204 Firehall 2

Lot 2, 
Remainder; 
Group 852

Burwash 
Landing FIREHALL 1 0

1 1 0 T cables installed

OWNED 3206
Kluane Natural 
History Museum 1

Km. 1759 
Alaska Hwy 
(mile 1043)

Burwash 
Landing OTHER 1 0

1 1 0

0 0
OWNED 6758 Zamboni Shelter 0 Ross River STORAGE ‐ 1 1 0 Unheated 1 1 0

OWNED 6759 New Health Centre 0
General 
Delivery Ross River

HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 1

Subsidence at 
corner

1 1 1

OWNED 6760 Storage Building 0 Ross River STORAGE ‐ 1 1 0 1 1 0

OWNED 6761 Workshop/Garage 0 Ross River Ross River GARAGE 1 1
1 1 1

OWNED 6762 Propane Shed 0 Ross River STORAGE ‐ 1 1 1 1 1 1

OWNED 6767
Fire Lookout 
Tower/Cabin 0

Mount Ross 
Reserve Ross River LOOKOUT 0

1 0 0 need location for this

OWNED 6768 Storage Garage 0 Ross River GARAGE 1 1 1 0

OWNED 6769 POL Shed 0 Ross River STORAGE 1 1 1 0

OWNED 6770
District Office Field 
Operation 0 Ross River OFFICE 1 1 1 1 1

OWNED 6771 Storage Building 0 Ross River STORAGE ‐ 1 1 0 1 1 0

OWNED 6772 POL Shed 0 Ross River STORAGE 1 1 1 0
OWNED 6721 Warehouse 1 Ross River STORAGE 1 1 1 0

6723
New Ross River 
School 0 Ross River SCHOOL 1 1 Severe Settlement 1 1 1 on thermosyphons

OWNED 6726 Storage 1 Ross River STORAGE 1 1 1 0
OWNED 6727 Pumphouse 0 Ross River OTHER 1 1 1 0
OWNED 6730 Swimming Pool 0 Ross River RECREATION 1 0 1 1 0 on thermosyphons

OWNED 6731
Multi Use and 
Community Hall 0 Ross River Ross River RECREATION 1 1

Settlement 1 1 1

OWNED 6742 PMA Shop/Office 1 Ross River GARAGE 1 1 Some settlement 1 1 1

OWNED 6744
Warehouse 
Workshop 0 Ross River WORKSHOP 1

1 1 0

OWNED 6745 Storage 0 Ross River STORAGE 1 0 0

OWNED 6746 Firehall 1 Ross River FIREHALL 1 1
small slump in 

corner
1 1 1

OWNED 6747 Airport Terminal 0 Ross River AIRPORT 1 0 1 1 0
OWNED 6748 Arena 0 Ross River RECREATION 1 0 1 1 0 on short piles

OWNED 6750 Grader Station 2 Ross River
GRADER 
STATION 1 1

heat pump, slab 
cracked

1 1 1

OWNED 6717 Grader Station 0 Ross River OTHER 1 1
Subsidence and 

cracking
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Assessment of YG Buildings on Permafrost

Building 
Status

Bldg 
Code Building Name

No. of 
Floors Address 1 City Code

Building 
Use Permafrost Impacted

Comments1  YG bldgs
(1 if yes)

YG bldgs on 
permafrost

YG bldgs 
impacted

OWNED 6981 Garage 0 Ross River
HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 1

Subsidence and 
cracking

1 1 1

OWNED 6716 Storage Shed 1 Bell Avenue Faro STORAGE ‐ 1 1 1
severe settlement 1 1 1

OWNED 6676 Liquor Store 1 Faro
SPECIAL 
PURPOSE 1 0 Slab on Grade 1 1 0 on piles into bedrock

OWNED 6678
Chateau Jomini 
Complex 0 Faro UNKNOWN 1 Abandoned

1 1 0 on piles into bedrock

0 0

OWNED 6700
Del Van Gorder 
School 1 Faro SCHOOL 1 1

Slab on Grade ‐ 
some cracking 1 1 1 mud jacked in late 1980's

OWNED 6978 Nursing Station 1 Bell Avenue Faro
HEALTH 
CENTRE 1 0 Slab on Grade 1 1 0

OWNED 6979
Residence (5) 
Health Canada 0 Faro RESIDENTIAL 1

1 1 0

OWNED 6980 Garage 1 Bell Avenue Faro GARAGE 1
1 1 0

OWNED 6754
Living Complex 
Trailers 1

KM 344 
North Canol  Twin Creeks OFFICE 1 0

1 1 0 not in FARO

OWNED 6718
Power Plant 
Storage 1 Faro STORAGE 1

1 1 0

OWNED 6715 Living Complex 1
South Canol 
Road Quiet Lake STORAGE 0

1 0 0 not in  FARO

OWNED 6629 Airport Terminal Faro 0 0 Pony Wall 1 0 0
0 0

OWNED 5681 Grader Station 1

KM 532 
North 
Klondike 
Highway

Stewart 
Crossing

GRADER 
STATION 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5682 Living Complex 0

KM 532 
North 
Klondike 
Highway

Stewart 
Crossing RESIDENTIAL 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5685 Warehouse 0

KM 532 
North 
Klondike 
Highway

Stewart 
Crossing STORAGE 0 ?

possible settlement 
‐ 

1 0 0

OWNED 5690

Well 
House/Storage 
Building 1

KM 532 
North 
Klondike 
Highway

Stewart 
Crossing STORAGE 0 0

1 0 0

OWNED 5693
Stewart Crossing 
Office 0

Stewart 
Crossing OFFICE 0 0

1 0 0

TOTAL: 135 75 19

Yukon Housing ‐ not PMD
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